Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Wenxiao Jiang

Date

Therapeutic Effect of Berberine on Huntington's Disease

Transgenic Mouse Model

By Wenxiao Jiang

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

Xiao-Jiang Li, M.D., Ph.D. Advisor

William Shafer, Ph.D. Committee Member

Charles Moran, Ph.D. Committee Member

Zixu Mao, Ph.D. Committee Member

David Weiss, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Therapeutic Effect of Berberine on Huntington's Disease

Transgenic Mouse Model

By

Wenxiao Jiang

B.S., University of Texas at MD Anderson Cancer Center, 2011

Advisor: Xiao-Jiang Li, M.D., Ph.D.

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

2015

Abstract

Therapeutic Effect of Berberine on Huntington's Disease Transgenic Mouse Model

By Wenxiao Jiang

Huntington's Disease (HD) is an incurable autosomal dominant, debilitating neurodegenerative disease caused by a CAG trinucleotide repeat expansion in exon 1 of the huntingtin (Htt) gene, which encodes a polyglutmine (polyQ) repeat tract in the Nterminal Htt. The disease is characterized by neurological symptoms such as chorea, dystonia, bradykinesia, dementia, and normally affects the mid-elderly. In severe cases, HD can onset at a much younger age because of large polyQ repeat expansions that are often in excess of 55 glutamines. Pathologically, HD is hallmarked by the formation of mutant Htt (mHtt) aggregate accumulation in the brain and neurodegeneration that preferentially affects the striatum. HD affects roughly 30,000 patients in the US, mostly of Western-European descent. Although there are efforts to treat HD by stemming and ameliorating its symptoms, so far, no treatments have been successful at preventing or delaying the development of this devastating disease. Berberine (BBR) is an abundantly-available, botanically-derived organic small molecule that is traditionally used orally to treat bacterial diarrhea and is well-tolerated in humans both in chronic and high-dosage use. Recently, BBR has shown protective effects on neurodegenerative conditions such as Alzheimer's Disease and Parkinson's Disease, which sparked our

interest in the possible effects of BBR against HD. In this study, we show that BBR treatment reduces mHtt aggregation both in a transfected cell model and in the brains of a transgenic HD mouse model via up-regulation of autophagic clearance of mutant proteins. The HD mice exhibited drastically improved motor function and a slightly increased lifespan. These encouraging results on HD mouse models also provide mechanistic insight into the broad effects of BBR on neurodegenerative diseases caused by misfolded aggregated proteins.

Therapeutic Effect of Berberine on Huntington's Disease

Transgenic Mouse Model

By

Wenxiao Jiang

B.S., University of Texas at MD Anderson Cancer Center, 2011

Advisor: Xiao-Jiang Li, M.D., Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Microbiology and Molecular Genetics 2015 Parts of this thesis dissertation have been adapted from the following works, completed during the timeframe of PhD candidacy:

Jiang, WenXiao, ShiHua Li, and XiaoJiang Li. "Therapeutic potential of berberine against neurodegenerative diseases." *Science China Life Sciences* (2015): 1-6.

Jiang, Wenxiao, et al. "Therapeutic effect of Berberine on Huntington's Disease Transgenic Mouse Model." In consideration May 5, 2015 with minor revisions at PLoS ONE.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Huntington's Disease	2
1.2 Huntington's Disease Research	4
1.3 Huntingtin Aggregation and Huntington's Disease	7
1.4 Defense Mechanisms Against Protein Aggregation	9
1.5 Berberine	12
1.6 Berberine and Neurodegenerative Diseases	13
1.7 Berberine and Huntington's Disease	21
1.8 Summary of Aims and Results of Study	22
Chapter 2: Therapeutic Potential of Berberine Ag	gainst
Neurodegenerative Disease	39
2.1 Abstract	40

2.2 Introduction	41
------------------	----

2.3 T	herapeutic	Effect of	Berberine	on Alzheimer'	's Disease	42
-------	------------	-----------	-----------	---------------	------------	----

2.4 Therapeutic Effect of Berberine on Parkinson's Disease	44
2.5 General Neurprotective Effects of Berberine	47
2.6 Effects of Berberine on Common Pathways in	
Neurodegeneration	48
2.7 Conclusion	50
2.8 References	56

Chapter 3: Therapeutic Effect of Berberine on Huntington's Disease Transgenic Mouse Model 3.1 Abstract 3.2 Introduction 3.3 Materials and Methods 3.4 Results 3.5 Discussion 3.6 Acknowledgements

65

66

67

68

76

81

104

3.7 References	104

Chapter 4: Final Discussion	113
4.1 Summary	114
4.2 Interpretation and Significant of Results	115
4.3 Future Studies	118
4.4 Conclusion	122
References	125

FIGURES AND TABLES

Chapter 1: Introduction

Table 1-1 Symptom Prevalence in Clinically-Evaluated	
cases of Huntington's Disease	27
Table 1-2 CAG Repeat Size Correlated with Age of Onset	29
Figure 1-1 Neurodegeneration in the Brain of Huntington's	
Disease Patients	31
Figure 1-2 Model for Mutant Protein Aggregate Formation	33
Figure 1-3 Molecular Structure of Berberine	35
Figure 1-4 Known Anti-Neurodegenerative	
Properties of Berberine	37

Chapter 2: Therapeutic Potential of Berberine Again	
Neurodegenerative Disease	
Figure 1 Molecular Structure of Berberine	52

Figure 2 Known Anti-Neurodegenerative

Properties of Berberine

Chapter 3: Therapeutic Effect of Berberine onHuntington's Disease Transgenic Mouse ModelFigure 1 BBR reduced Htt aggregation in vitro in a dose andtime-dependent manner85Figure 2 BBR increases autophagic activity in cultured cells 90Figure 3 Oral administration of BBR ameliorates neurologicalsymptoms in transgenic N171-82Q mice94Figure 4 Oral administration of BBR reduced mutant Httaggregation and increased autophagy in transgenic N171-82Qmice100

Chapter 4: Final Discussion

Figure 4-1 Model for Berberine's Role in Mutant

Huntingtin Aggregate Accumulation

123

Chapter I:

Introduction

1.1 Huntington's Disease

Huntington's disease (HD) is a severe, debilitating neurodegenerative disease that is characterized by chorea, dystonia, motor coordination loss and mental deterioration (Tab. 1-1). Onset of disease is usually mid-late life, but can be as early as in juvenile life [1, 2, 3]. Although measuring the true prevalence of HD is extremely difficult, it is estimated that in nations of predominantly Western ancestry, the incidence ratio is roughly 5-7 per 100,000 (neglecting some select small populations in Western Europe and Venezuela which exhibit highly exalted levels) [4]. In the US, it is thought that there are a least 30,000 people who suffer from HD, a number that is both rising and most likely underestimated [4]. The HD gene on 4p16.3 encodes the huntingtin (Htt) protein, of 350kDa, with a variablelength polyglutamine (polyQ) tract encoded in exon 1. Expansion of the polyQ tract (>36 CAGs) results in HD, and further-expanded tracts of over 55 CAG repeats lead to aggressive progression juvenile-onset HD [1] (Tab. 1-2). The reason for this threshold is most likely that expanded polyQ tracts of over 36 repeats cause Htt to misfold, leading to abnormal protein interactions and aggregation of Htt [5-7]. Although the role of Htt aggregates remains controversial, the accumulation of these toxic forms have been used as a marker to assess the therapeutic effects of drugs that may counteract HD [8]. The precise function of Htt remains to be fully investigated, though studies have implicated its roles in vesicular trafficking [9-11]. Silencing the htt gene results in embryonic lethality in mice, though heterozygous knock-out phenotypes vary depending on model and study [12-14]. Some have evidence that heterozygous Htt knockouts present with moderate neurological abnormalities, [13, 14] while others offer dissenting results showing that they are phenotypically indistinguishable from wild type (WT) [12].

Clinically, one of the agents used today to treat HD is tetrabenzine [15, 16]. This compound is a vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT) 2 inhibitor. By inhibiting vesicular transport of monoamines such as dopamine and γ -Aminobutyric acid (GABA), tetrabenzine can ameliorate chorea-like movements, and is thus a valuable symptom-based treatment for several neurological diseases including HD [15,16]. Unfortunately, as a dopamine antagonist, depression is one of the main side-effects of tetrabanzine [15, 16].

Another symptom-based treatment for HD is haloperidol [17-19]. This is a butyrophenone with strong antipsychotic properties, which also makes its application quite wide in range [17-19]. As a receptor antagonist of D2, Alpha 1, 5-HT2, haloperidol exhibits a long list of common side-effects including, but not limited to dystonia (one of the symptoms of HD), muscle rigidity, and Parkinsonism [17-19].

Although there are no approved disease-modifying drugs for HD (in large part due to the lack of understanding of the underlying mechanisms), there are 2 compounds in clinical trials with the potential to target some HD-associated imbalances.

Selisistat is one of the potential disease-modifying treatments under clinical testing [20-26]. This compound works by inhibiting a natural protein deacetylator,

SIRT 1, which causes an increase DNA acetylation and transcription to target the gene expression imbalance in HD [20-26]. There are widely recognized positive effects of Selisistat in HD cellular and animal models, and clinical testing is still ongoing. While Selisistat is generally believed to be safe, side effects involving hepatic hyper-function have been noted [20, 24]. Despite its relative success, the connection between gene down-regulation and HD pathology/ symptomology is unknown so it is still uncertain as to whether Selisistat actually addresses a root cause or simply targets a bio-molecular symptom or by-product of an actual underlying cause.

PBT2 is another drug that is classified as disease-modifying and works primarily through metal sequestration to defend against damage caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS) and counteracting metal-induced effects on mutant Htt (mHtt) aggregation [27-30]. The main targets of PBT2 are copper and zinc. Unfortunately, while seemingly successful in animal models, the effectiveness of PBT2 to significantly modify HD in a positive way in humans is still highly shrouded in uncertainty even after some clinical trials [29-30].

Despite all of the efforts today, a drug that is effective at treating or stopping HD progression still eludes modern science. Discovery of a safe and effective disease-modifying drug would be a major game-changer in the struggle against HD.

1.2 Huntington's Disease Research

In order to study HD, several different mouse models have been constructed to imitate the disease [31]. The design philosophy consists of making the mouse either a knock-in (KI) model or a transgenic one. Then, a choice is made between having the model express full-length mHtt or N-terminus fragments. While the full-length HD mouse models may more accurately imitate what happens in patients, the models progress through disease more slowly, making it difficult to evaluate therapeutic effects of drugs on the mild and slowly-developing neurological phenotypes. Thus, the N-terminal Htt expressing mouse models are often chosen for their directness and speed of progression. Some notable and popular aggressive models are the R6/2 and N171 82Q transgenic N-terminal Htt expressing models [32-34]. While they express different lengths of pathogenic polyQ, both models exhibit tremors, loss of motor coordination, weight-loss, clasping (a behavior in which when held upside-down by the tail, the mouse's limbs, especially hind limbs, grasp each other and are held close to the body) and finally, early expiration (roughly 4 months) [32-34].

PolyQ expansion-mediated protein misfolding and pathology can be assessed in vitro and in vivo. *In vitro*, mHtt aggregation correlates with protein misfolding and can be determined by Western blot or microscopy. In the HD brain, de-myelination and neuronal degeneration can also be seen [35]. In the animal model, behavioral tests are used to evaluate disease progression. These mainly test for balance, depression, motor function, memory, and strength. For balance, the balance beam test can be used. This test records the duration necessary for the mouse to cross a narrow beam; greater balance results in a faster crossing [36]. For depression, the Porsolt swim test can be used in which the mouse is put into a pool of water and the

time that it spends swimming is measured against the time it spends floating, rationalizing that a less depressed mouse would have more desire to overcome the situation and thus would spend more effort attempting to escape [37]. Another possible test for depression is the open field test in which the mouse is released into a new environment and the amount of distance it covers exploring the area is measured, rationalizing that a depressed mouse would prefer to hide away while a normal one would be keen to scout the area [38-40]. Memory can be tested by various maze tests in which the mouse must first learn the area of a treat (or platform in the case of the water maze), then continuously relocate it in the same area to show how well the mouse remembers past experience [41]. Strength can be tested by the grip-strength test in which a mouse is allowed to grasp a metal mesh attached to a force-meter before being pulled off, recording how much force the mouse exerted onto the force-meter before being forcibly removed. Motor coordination could be assessed by the foot-fault test, which measures the number of times an animal makes a mistake in its gait when walking on a cage-like surface [42]. Finally, the best, most non-biased assessment for motor coordination is the rotarod test, in which mice are placed on a suspended rotating knurled dowel that is turned and slowly accelerated by a machine [43-45]. The time that the mouse is able to keep up with the machine reflects its current motor coordination level.

To evaluate the accumulation of aggregate mutant Htt in cell culture or HD animal models, Western blotting is often used to detect Htt aggregates. In Western blots, mHtt aggregates cannot be dissolved by SDS, so they remain as large aggregates that can only be visualized in the stacking gel even after running. This allows us to separately evaluate mHtt aggregates from their dissolved forms. If it is necessary to dissolve the aggregates, formic acid may be used to do so [46]. Both normal and polyQ-extended Htt can be easily bound by many commercial antibodies and be detected either via Western Blot or by immunofluorecent microscopy. Additionally, the latter offers the resolution to discern the cellular localization of these aggregates. By examining Htt aggregation in HD animal models, it is possible to assess the therapeutic effects of drugs on HD.

As can be seen from the plethora of efforts and tools for studying HD in the lab, it is apparent that the disease has long been a challenge to humanity and expectedly, well-studied, however, due to its difficulty, still inadequately-understood.

1.3 Huntingtin Aggregation and Huntington's Disease

The pathological hallmark and biological identifier of HD is the accumulation of mHtt in various brain regions, causing loss/degeneration of mass that is most pronounced in the striatum [47-48] (Fig. 1-1). These aggregates are formed from the fragments of broken mHtt proteins. When mutations accumulate 36 or more glutamine repeats on the polyglutamine tract, aberrant protein folding can be seen [49]. While normal folding results in structurally-stable proteins, these misfolded proteins exhibit a structural instability, which can cause fragmentation [50]. These fragmented proteins can interact dynamically with each other and can accumulate in the nucleus and cytoplasm of brain neurons [51-55]. In the beginning, the nascent aggregations are unstable and the particles can freely associate and dissociate [56].

However, once the aggregate structure reaches a certain size and stabilizes, it is very difficult for any particles to leave, and from there, the mega structure will steadily expand [56] (Fig. 1-2). Because the formation of these mHtt aggregates correlates with disease progression, the presence of mHtt aggregates may offer some explanation as to why the disease usually remains asymptomatic until its onset later in life. However, there is still uncertainty as to why the severity of disease increases with an expanding polyglutamine tract. One possibility is that the increased polyQ sizes cause extensive protein misfolding and aggregation, leading the stable structure state to be reached much faster, offering explanation for the phenomenon of juvenile onset HD.

Despite the aggregation of mutant protein fragments being the signature of HD (and thus often used as a molecular indicator of severity of disease), the causal relationship between HD symptoms/pathology and mHtt aggregation remains controversial. Though there seems to be correlation, that more visible mHtt aggregates are seem in more advanced and severe cases, direct causation has yet to be proven. While it is often taken for granted that aggregates are the cause of the disease, a rival theory is that aggregates are actually neuroprotective and represent the body's attempt at diffusing the disease symptoms, and such, the more severe the disease, the greater the effort that the body puts into producing aggregates to protect the brain's neurons. However, this is unlikely, as if this were the case, then treatments that directly target eliminating the aggregates should worsen the symptoms and expedite HD progression. Another possibility is that the buildup of mHtt aggregates is simply a by-product of the unknown underlying cause (originating from the mutated protein) such that they can serve as relatively accurate indicators but they themselves have no modifying effect on the disease. However, mainstream thought on the issue is that although mHtt aggregate accumulation is the underlying cause of HD, the reason and link between the aggregates and pathology/ symptomology is unclear. One hypothesis is that these aggregates form a pit or trap, entangling several other proteins, occupying them from their functions, which leads to global functional down-regulation [57-59]. When ensnared in mHtt aggregate pits, proteins meant as defenses against some of the body's challenges could lose much of their ability to prevent their targets from causing damage to the body. For example, metal superoxide dismutases could fail to defend the body from excessive ROS damage when trapped by mHtt [60, 61].

To summarize, although there is no conclusive evidence as to whether the mHtt aggregates, which are a key to diagnosing HD, are the causative root, a byproduct, or a host-initiated defense against HD neurodegeneration, mainstream thought believes that these aggregate bodies are malevolent and related negatively to HD. Despite the unclear role of mHtt aggregates, there is a general consensus that these aggregates result from the accumulation of misfolded Htt and their formation correlates with disease progression and development.

1.4 Defense Mechanisms Against Protein Aggregation

The body has several biological pathways through which to clear away aggregated accumulations of defunct or harmful proteins. The most notable are the ubiquitinmediated proteasome degradation pathway, and the autophagy pathways. The autophagic pathways are united by the use of the autophagosome for degradation but the steps leading up to this divide the autphagic process into three distinct pathways: macroautophagy, microautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy [62]. Of these 4 pathways for clearance of aberrant proteins, each may play a role against the build-up of mHtt in HD.

The uqibuitin-proteasome system (UPS) uses three major enzymes (E1-E3) to activate ubiquitin, transfer it to a holding enzyme, then target it onto the aberrant protein to serve as a tag for destruction [63-64]. This tag serves as a localization signal to be recognized by the proteasome, which then degrades the ubiquitin-tagged protein [65]. The importance of the UPS in combating mHtt aggregation is not well-understood. Because of the relatively small channel for substrate to enter the proteasome, it is not believed to be able to directly degrade large aggregated protein structures, rather it may be limited to degrading soluble mHtt to prevent it from joining an aggregate structure [56]. However, there is also evidence that the proteasome may, at least in some instances, fail to fully degrade the mHtt protein, and as a result, release broken protein fragments into the cytoplasm [66, 67]. Since these fragments can then aggregate, the UPS, in this instance, may serve to expedite the disease, decreasing the time between production of mHtt and its time to fragmentation.

Of the autophagic pathways, macroautophagy is the largest of the trio. This process allows for the engulfment of entire cellular organelles set for destruction and is capable of destroying large mHtt aggregates in addition to soluble mHtt [68, 69]. Briefly, this is a process in which a double-membraned vacuole starting as a phagopore is formed and begins to elongate around a target designated for destruction until the membranes enclose it in an autophagosome [68, 69]. This process, which converts LC3B I into LC3B II and recruits P62 as an expendable protein escort P62, ultimately ends with fusion into a lysosome for destruction [68, 69]. Macroautophagy is believed to be the workhorse of the autophagic pathways responsible for the majority of protein degradation assignments.

Microautophagy is another form of autophagy that is more associated with starvation response than clearance of defunct or pathogenic proteins [70]. This is a more simplistic pathway that involves lysosome membrane invagination and intake of the substrate (oftentimes lipids during catabolic states) for direct degradation [70]. There is no direct evidence so far that this pathway is of significant consequence in HD.

Finally, chaperone-mediated autophagy is a more complicated and highly selective method of autophagy in which heat shock protein 70 (hsc70) forms a targeting complex with the substrate in order to localize it to the lysosome associated membrane protein 2A (Lamp2A) [71]. There, it can be unfolded and transported across the lysosome membrane into the lysosome for destruction. There is also some evidence that one substrate that the hsc70 may recognize could be Htt/mHtt, since down-regulating hsc70 or Lamp2A causes an acceleration of mHtt aggregation [72-74]. However, one alternative reason for this may be that down-regulation of the chaperone-mediated autophagic pathway created slack that had to be picked up by other protein degradation pathways, and that caused them to allocate their activities/resources away from mHtt destruction.

Until recently, it was thought that the autophagic pathways and the UPS were independent systems. However, recently, there has been evidence that points to crosstalk between the two. Ubiquitin has risen as a link between autophagy and the UPS, serving as a substrate escort for both functions [75-77]. Indeed, it was also seen that in cases where the UPS was impaired, autophagy would respond by up-regulating to compensate for the slack [78-80]. There is also a great possibility of some overlap in substrate/ target since phenotypes seen in UPS-deficient systems could be rescued by up-regulating autophagy. However, inverse relationships such as UPS up-regulation causing autophagy down-regulation or autophagic impairment leading to UPS acceleration have yet to be seen.

1.5 Berberine

Berberine (BBR) is an organic compound isolated from various herbs such as *Coptis chinensis, Berberis vulgaris, Hydrastis Canadensis, Phellodendron amurense,* etc... For decades, Chinese medicine has used the plants and their extracts to treat diarrhea with no observable negative side-effects or toxicity in patients [81-83]. Modern advances in research, however, allowed us to discover BBR as the active compound and to synthesize it. As a result, BBR was found to be a small molecule, yellow at room temperature (orange when heated in solutions) with a molecular weight of 371.8 Da [81-83] (Fig. 1-3).

One of BBR's main advantages is its safety. Botanically purified, isolated, and chemically-created BBR have been used to treat patients with bacterial diarrhea for many decades in China [82]. It is an over-the-counter medicine that requires no prescription or special precaution. The LD50 for BBR when delivered orally is virtually non-existent [83]. Possibly due to its mechanism for reduction of blood glucose/lipid, a commonly-seen side-effect of BBR (depending on dosage) is weight loss [84]. In the US, BBR is available for purchase from many health-supplement companies such as GNC, either by itself or as part of a plant extract, advertised for general health and/or especially blood-sugar/cholesterol control. The recommended dosage is around 1,500mg daily. When taken orally, BBR is poorly absorbed into the bloodstream and peaks in blood-levels roughly 2-4 hours after use, declining rapidly, thus requiring any BBR regiment to be taken at least daily, possibly more often. Once it enters the body, BBR can easily cross the blood-brain-barrier and shows the highest concentrations in the liver.

The other pillar of BBR's potential is its diversity. BBR has been reported to affect an incredibly vast array of targets, including several of which are of interest to the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

1.6 Berberine and Neurodegenerative Diseases

The most encouraging evidence that prompted this research was BBR's potential against neurological diseases, made possible by BBR's ability to quickly cross the bloodbrain barrier. One of its most notable successes against neurological disease is its activity against Alzheimer's Disease (AD) [85-88]. Although no single underlying cause has be established for beta-amyloid plagues-associated AD, a plethora of relatively small imbalances have been found in AD patients and are likely to contribute to the symptoms of the disease. Due to its multi-faceted nature, BBR has been shown to address several of those imbalances in a positive way. These activities include cholesterol reduction, ERK pathway activation, inhibition of MAO-B activity, defense against ROS-induced damage, inhibition of acetylcholinesterase (AChE), butyrylcholinesterase (BChE) and beta-secretase, and reduction in the amyloid-beta genesis [84-86, 88, 89]. This has led to an overall reduction in amyloid plaque aggregation and amelioration of phenotypic pathology in AD mouse models [87].

In 2009, Choi, *et al* ran a number of inhibitory assays to determine the anti-AD effects of several protoberberine alkaloids [88]. The IC50 (50% inhibitory concentration) was determined for each of the six compounds in their ability to stunt an AD-related activity. The inhibitory assays included β -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1), AChE, BChE, and ROS. In addition to total ROS, peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) scavenging was given particular attention due to its strong role in amyloid B formation. Through these assays, Choi *et al* found that although BBR was ineffective at inhibition of BACE1 and total ROS, the compound showed promising results against AChE, BChE, and ONOO- (requiring 0.44, 3.44, and 23.06 uM respectively to reach IC50 of a 100 uM target solution) [88].

In 2013, Panahi, *et al* showed that with 50 mg/kg oral BBR taken daily, rabbits with chemically-induced AD-like symptoms showed improvement as compared to the

14

untreated group. Although weight loss was only moderately abated, survival was significantly improved [85]. Interestingly, the results showed significant inhibition of BACE1 in the treatment group, which stand in contrast to the prior findings of Choi *et al* [88].

Asai, *et al* also discovered that 10 uM BBR could reduce amyloid B levels to 30% of the untreated amount *in vitro* [86]. Furthermore, through Western-blotting of the different components of amyloid precursor protein (APP), they discovered that the mechanism behind the reduction was the result of APP pathway modulation towards a non-amyloid metabolite, as opposed to direct destruction of the protein itself or of its precursor [86].

Using a transgenic AD model mouse strain (CRN8D), Durairajan, *et al* tested the effects of BBR on neurological impairment. The group found that BBR significantly reduced amyloid B plaque aggregation, leading to amelioration of mental and neuronal impairment in the treated group as compared to untreated transgenic controls [87]. Results also showed that these effects were achieved through inhibition of APP phosphorylation via suppression of glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) 3 activation [110]. In addition, the group found that treatment with a lower dosage (25mg/kg) often showed preferential results as compared to treatment with a higher dosage (100mg/kg) [87].

All these studies present consistent information of BBR's effects against the various components of AD pathogenesis. Animal studies also show BBR's amelioration of pathology presentation and retardation of progression of AD. Furthermore, the

15

dosage study done by the Durairajan [87] suggests that to further develop the therapeutic capabilities of BBR against AD, combination therapies or other advanced methods must be used, since increases in concentration can be counter-productive in treatment.

Another neurodegenerative disease on which BBR's relationship was studied is Parkinson's Disease (PD). Although the pathology of PD has been pinned to the formation of Lewy body protein aggregates and loss of dopaminergic neurons in the brain, the causes that lead up to the pathology are largely unknown [90-96]. Due to our lack of understanding of the true cause of this disease, effective treatment strategies remain to be developed. Thus, current therapies against PD are limited to amelioration of its symptoms, the main focus of which is stemmed around prevention or retardation of further dopaminergic neuronal loss. There has been substantially less research done on the therapeutic potential of BBR against PD than there has been against AD; the mixed results and lack of clear success could be the reason. However, there are at least two documented effects that merit continued consideration and studies to further address the possibility of BBR's use as an anti-PD agent.

In 2014, Kim, *et al* used a chemically-induced mouse model of PD to test the neuro-protective effects of BBR. According to their data, at 50 mg/kg, BBR significantly prevented both memory and balance loss in the PD mice as compared to their untreated counterparts [96]. They found that there was corresponding lack of dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia nigra and decreases apoptosis in the hippocampus of the treated group as compared with the untreated control [96]. This recent study showed a

very promising outlook for BBR as a possible select compound for treatment of PD.

However, the results of Kim, *et al* stood in stark contrast to the findings of the Lee group in South Korea, which published two accounts [97, 98] of the neurotoxic effects of BBR when used to treat chemically-induced rat models of PD. In these studies, first, a PC12 cell model of PD showed that when treated with BBR, dopaminergic loss was elevated as compared to the untreated controls [97]. Treatment of a PD rat model with BBR (both at 5mg/kg and 15mg/kg) aggravated depletion of dopamine and norepinephrine as well as degeneration of tyrosine hydroxylase-immunopositive cells *in vivo* [98]. It is important to note that the differences in findings between the Lee and Yang group could possibly be partially attributed to their differences in animal models (mouse vs. rat) and the rate at which the species naturally metabolizes BBR.

As MAO-A and MAO-B are both natural dopamine-degrading agents, their inhibition has always been a therapeutic strategy against PD [99-102]. However, due to the toxic side-effects of MAO inhibitors, this route has usually been reserved as the final effort in a patient's treatment against advancing PD. Castillo, *et al* used direct LED fluorescence to detect changes in MAO-B levels in hopes of using the method as a way to confirm the successes of various MAO-B inhibiting agents in PD treatment [103]. Although it was previously known that BBR could inhibit MAO activity (with an IC50 of 126 uM for MAO-A and 98.4 uM for MAO-B), the results of the Jaimes group put into perspective the usability of BBR as a MAO-inhibitor for PD treatment [89, 103, 104]. Compared to other MAO inhibitors that can often be highly toxic, BBR is highly preferable for its safety.

Bae, *et al* discovered from *in vitro* studies using human-derived SH-SY5Y cells as an *in vitro* model of dopaminergic neurons that BBR prevented cell death by protecting against ROS damage [105]. The mechanism relied on activation of heme oxygenase-1 and inhibition of caspase-3 activation to parry neuronal apoptosis [105].

Taken together, while these results do show the possibilities of BBR as a therapeutic agent against PD, they also suggest proceeding with caution, as slight species/model-dependent differences in BBR metabolism could account for vastly different results.

BBR has also shown broad neuroprotective effects. General oxidative damage to neurons and neurodegeneration plays an important role in a wide range of neurological disorders. To achieve its neuroprotective effects, BBR has been reported to activate nuclear factor-like 2 (Nrf2), aid in phosphorylation of Protein Kinase B (Akt), and cAMP response element binding protein (CREB), down-regulate nuclear factor kappa-lightchain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB), and enhance phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) expression via (P55y subunit) increasing promoter activity [106-116].

Using mouse neuroblastoma cell lines, Hsu *et al* determined the *in vitro* neuroprotective effects of BBR. They found that in addition to the known anti-oxidative pathways, BBR was also capable of activating Nrf2, an anti-oxidant factor. Furthermore, they also found evidence that BBR stymied neuronal cell death by bolstering B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2), an antagonist of apoptosis [106].

In addition, Zhang, et al used a rat stroke model to test the abilities of BBR to

18

protect against stroke. They found BBR to be neuroprotective in the acute phase of the stroke when administered immediately after insult. They also traced the BBR's ability to up-regulate phosphorylation of neuroprotective factors: Akt, and CREB [107]. BBR was also found to down-regulate the inflammatory response factor, NF-kB, to suppress inflammation in the area [107]. Interestingly, they also discovered that BBR can affect the permeability of the blood-brain barrier by up-regulating the integral membrane protein, claudin-5 [107].

In 2011, Hu, *et al* found that in a mouse model with surgically induced stroke, BBR presented a unique way of bypassing a self-insulting down-regulation of the cell growth/proliferation factor, PI₃K [108]. In their model, BBR could target the P₅₅y subunit of PI₃K and enhance its promoter activity while side-stepping its natural antagonists, Ly294002 and Akti-1/2, which is also an Akt inhibitor [108]. This resulted in significantly enhanced reperfusion to the damaged areas as compared to the untreated controls [108]. Interestingly, this group chose caudal intravenous administration of BBR between 0.002 and 0.2 mg/kg as opposed to the more economic, safer, and much more commonly used oral gavage route.

The multifaceted abilities of BBR to act against several neurodegenerative conditions or afflictions suggest that it may act on the shared pathways of neurodegeneration in these diseases. MAO-B inhibition has been implicated to have positive effects against both Alzheimer's and Parkinson's patients [99-101]. A possible reason could be that the MAO-B-mediated dopamine metabolism pathway leads to H_2O_2 generation and as MAO-B activity is elevated in AD and PD, the excess H_2O_2 can cause

oxidative stress and damage [102]. Damage, as well as proapoptotic stimulation from ROS has also been implicated in a wide array of neurodegenerative afflictions [117, 118] and the ability of BBR to counteract ROS certainly serves to uphold its ability to affect a diverse group of ailments in which neurodegeneration is a major factor. Furthermore, BBR's inhibitory effects on AChE could lead to effects on a great number of neurodegenerative diseases as AChE has exhibited apoptotic induction, in addition to its general role as antagonist to acetylcholine [119]. Because of this, AChE inhibition is already in use as a therapeutic approach to curtailing neurodegeneration [120]. General neuro-protective factors that BBR can enhance or up-regulate include Nrf2, GLP-1 and others [106, 107, 121-123]. Nrf2 has shown neuroprotection through a pathway that defends against ROS damage [124, 125]. GLP-1 up-regulation and receptor stimulation have exhibited neuro-protective effects towards preservation of dopaminergic neurons, which have applications in stroke, AD, PD, Huntington's disease (HD) and more [126-128]. Additionally, BBR's ability to phosphorylate AKT and activate the PI3K-AKT signaling pathway results in the ability to resist apoptosis via inhibition of caspases and cytochrome C [121-131]. CREB is another important protein, the phosphorylation of which can be up-regulated by BBR. Research has shown pCREB to be an essential part of neurons that survive insult, and knocking it down could cause neurodegeneration in the brain [132, 133]. Due to these common pathways that result in neurodegeneration, BBR is able to affect a great number of disorders in which neurodegeneration is key (Fig. 1-4).

BBR has shown great therapeutic potential against neurodegenerative diseases

including AD and PD as well as stroke. Its ability to effectively cross the blood-brain barrier (as well as its small size, which allows for the uncanny ability to act on a number of molecular targets) is a pillar of its merit as an anti-neurodegenerative agent. Because of the extensive range of effects, BBR is likely to address diseases in a positive way by correcting multiple deficiencies and tackling the problem from various angles simultaneously. However, BBR is unlikely to have a very strong effect on any single aspects, which may both limit its effect but also prevent harmful levels of imbalance, which result in toxicity. These facts coupled with its overall favorable effects on brain function suggest a potential myriad of other undiscovered applications on neurodegenerative diseases. The other pillar is its safety, with no documented serious toxic effects even in high doses given orally. Because of this crucial feature, and that it has been safely used in China for decades even for long-term clinical treatment, upon even mild-moderate success on animal models, BBR could quickly advance through clinical trials (for specific ailments) rather than taking the usual several long steps before being deemed safe. On a final note, the therapeutic potential of BBR shows great promise and merits great interest and research investment for future development and exploration into the possibilities of this multi-faceted, non-toxic botanic compound.

1.7 Berberine and Huntington's Disease

To date, no studies have been conducted on the effect of BBR on HD. HD is a highly mysterious and multi-faceted disease and coupled with BBR's diversity, there is a chance that BBR could address one or more of the aspects involved in HD. That AD and PD are both neurodegenerative diseases characterized by protein aggregate accumulation in the brain via a similar fashion to HD gave additional strong encouragement to explore the possibilities of BBR's effect on the disease course of HD. Among the pathological biomarkers of HD, those which have connections previously established with BBR's abilities include abnormalities and failures of cholesterol metabolism, inactivation of the ERK pathway, abnormally high MAO levels, AChE and BChE deficiences, high glucose levels with resistance to insulin, and increased ROS That BBR has been reported to up-regulate autophagically-induced [134-140]. apoptosis may offer a possible mechanism for enhanced clearance of defunct proteins such as mHtt (in both aggregate and soluble form). BBR may affect autophagy through indirect regulation of transcription factor E-box (TFEB), a master regulator of the autophagic pathways. Two biochemical routes through which BBR may exert its effects on autophagy are 1. BBR phosphorylation of ERK causes up-regulation of TFEB, [84, 141-144] or 2. BBR up-regulates sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), which up-regulates PGC1-α, which up-regulates TFEB [145-150]. While individual parts of these chains have been documented, the entire working process has yet to be evidenced. Nonetheless, they present very interesting possibilities for how BBR may correct some imbalances caused by HD and thus positively modify disease course.

1.8 Summary of Aims and Results of Study

The primary aim of this study was to see if BBR exhibits any significant diseasemodifying capability against HD first in an *in vitro* cellular model, then in an animal model. If the primary objective came back positively, then the secondary aim would be to provide new insight into its broad actions.

The hallmark mHtt aggregation was used solely to assess anti-HD activity in vivo. To examine BBR's effect on a HD cellular model, we used HEK-293 cells, a non-polar kidney cell-line, for its ease of culture and transfection. The cells were grown and several concentrations of BBR were used to see if any could diminish mHtt build-up via Western blot and immunofluorescent staining and if so, which concentrations yielded the best results. After transfection with pathogenic 120Q and non-pathogenic 20Q variants of Htt on the HEK-293 cells, BBR concentrations of 5, 25, 50, or 100uM were administered and the results showed a pronounced mHtt-reducing effect that became apparent at the 50-100uM range. No significant changes were observed in nonpathogenic mHtt expression, and since the expression of both normal and mutant Htt was under the same promoter, this could temper the factor of BBR interfering with promoter activity. After this, the question was how quickly BBR had to be introduced in order to have an effect. Since the previous experiment was carried out with BBR added at the time of transfection, there was the concern that if BBR could not act on preformed aggregates, then it would not be effective as a drug since that meant it would have to be given to patients long before symptoms arose while most HD is only diagnosed when symptoms appear and mid-late life. So a time-trial was carried out using 50uM BBr to treat HD-120Q transfected cells at different times, ranging from immediately after transfection to 12 and 24 hours later. The results were detected by Western blot, then confirmed by immunofluorescent cell-counting, taking into account
both the number of aggregates and the number of cells. Both cases showed that while waiting 24 hours usually resulted in negligible benefits from BBR treatment, waiting 12 hours still yielded noticeable improvement over untreated samples. So these 2 experiments showed that BBR treatment could reduce mHtt build-up in a dose and time-dependent maner.

Next, we wanted to see what the underlying mechanism to BBR's anti-mHtt activity was. Since defunct protein clearance is done in the body mainly by the ubiquitinproteasome system (UPS) and autophagy pathway, these would be of interest. The effect of the UPS on HD is unclear, with some people suggesting that the UPS may be incapable of completely degrading mHtt, instead, releasing polyQ fragments which contribute to aggregation. Also, BBR has already been reported to increase autophagy in cancer cells to induce apoptosis. Thus, BBR's effect on autophagy became the main hypothesis and focus of this study. We first wanted to see if our previous experiments, in which BBR diminished mHtt aggregation, could show a correlation between mHtt aggregate reduction and increase in autophagic flux. Autophagic markers P62 and LC3B were used as indicators of autophagy, and in both cases, they showed that decreases in mHtt aggregation from BBR treatment were correlated with increases in autophagy. However, this showed only correlation; causation still needed to be established. Thus, HEK-293 cells were transfected with HD-120Q and left untreated, or treated with BBR, Bafilomycin-A (BFA), or both. (BFA was selected as an autophagy inhibitor.) The results showed that when BBR was used, mHtt aggregation was

diminished, but when BFA was added along with BBR, the effect could no longer be seen. This suggested that BBR indeed acted through autophagy to clear mHtt.

Our next aim was to see if this could all be replicated in an animal model. N171 82Q transgenic HD model mice from Jackson Labs were used. These mice expressed a 171-amino acid fragment of htt with 82 CAG repeats in the polyQ tract. These mice and their WT siblings were separated into groups and given either vehicle or BBR orally every day at a dose of 40mg/kg for BBR. Throughout the 5-month study, the mice were weighed and tested on the rotarod for motor coordination and given the grip strength test for power. The results showed the obvious superiority of the BBR-treated mutants as compared to their untreated mutant siblings, although there was still a widening gap The differences in rotarod performance became when compared to WT siblings. apparent and statistically significant (between the treated and untreated mutant groups) much earlier in the trial than the differences in grip strength, pointing to neurological degeneration proceeding muscular atrophy. An additional balance beam test showed similar results, with the 2 WT groups roughly even, the treated mutant group taking a few seconds longer, and the untreated mutant group taking the longest by a statistically significant margin. In the end, the average lifespan of the treated mutant group was roughly 10% or 14 days longer than their untreated mutant siblings, however, statistically, this is only suggestive, not strictly significant (P=0.052).

Pathology of the brain samples was evaluated by Western blotting and immunohisto fluorescent staining. Immunohisto fluorescent staining indicated that through evaluation of 3 mutant brains for both untreated and treated groups, on

average, there was greater mHtt aggregation in the untreated brains. This was confirmed through Western blotting, which also revealed through P62 staining that on average, autophagy was increased in the BBR-treated groups (both mutant and WT). RT PCR was performed on the 6 previously-evaluated mutants (3 treated and 3 untreated) to ensure that differences in mHtt aggregation were not due to variations in expression levels of transgenic mice and the results showed nearly identical average mHtt expression between the 2 mutant groups.

Tab. 1-1

Clinical findings	Group HD	
	Juvenile and childhood onset (n=4)	Adult and late onset (n=46)
Rigidity	100%	86%
Bradykinesia	100%	33.5%
Ataxia	100%	67%
Dystonia	75%	48%
Chorea	75%	86%
Dysarthria	100%	76%
Pyramidal signs	100%	76%
Dysmetria	50%	38%

Table. Summary of clinical findings for Huntington's disease (HD) patients.

Ruocco, Heloísa H., et al. "Clinical presentation of juvenile Huntington disease." Arquivos de neuro-psiquiatria 64.1 (2006): 5-9.

Reproduced with permission from journal

Tab. 1-1 HD manifests in several commonly-seen symptoms.

Frequency of most commonly presented HD symptoms among juvenile and late onset HD patients

Tab. 1-2

CAG Repeat Size	Median Age at Onset ^a (95% CI) (years)	
39	66 (72-59)	
40	59 (61-56)	
41	54 (56-52)	
42	49 (50-48)	
43	44 (45-42)	
44	42 (43-40)	
45	37 (39-36)	
46	36 (37-35)	
47	33 (35-31)	
48	32 (34-30)	
49	28 (32-25)	
50	27 (30-24)	

Median Age at Onset

* Age by which 50% of individuals will be affected.

Brinkman RR, Mezei MM, Theilmann J, Almquist E, Hayden MR. The Likelihood of being affected with Huntington Disease by a particular age, for a specific CAG size Am. J. Hum. Genet. 60 (1997) 1202-1210.

Reproduced with permission from journal

Tab. 1-2 Polyglutamine tract length increases hasten HD onset.

Polyglutamine tract length of Htt protein as correlated to average expected age of onset in HD patients





Association des paralysés de France. 1996. Déficiences motrices et handicaps, Aspects sociaux, psychologiques, médicaux, techniques et législatifs, troubles associés. Paris : Association des paralysés de France. 505 p.

Reproduced with permission from journal

Fig. 1-1 HD causes degeneration of the brain.

Clinical presentation of HD-caused cortical, hippocampal degeneration with enlarged ventricles (top) as compared to normal brain (bottom) cross section.





Brundin, Patrik, Ronald Melki, and Ron Kopito. "Prion-like transmission of protein aggregates in neurodegenerative diseases." Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 11.4 (2010): 301-307.

Reproduced with permission from journal

Fig. 1-2 HD is characterized by mHtt aggregate accumulation.

Theoretical model for dynamics of protein aggregate formation and accumulation with oligomer stabilization as a key contributing event.





Fig. 1-3 BBR is a stable organic compound.

Natural structure of BBR





Fig. 1-4 BBR exhibits several neuroprotective activities.

Known activities of BBR as pertinent to neurological disorders and defense against neurodegeneration

Chapter II:

Therapeutic potential of Berberine Against Neurodegenerative Diseases

Wenxiao Jiang¹, Shihua Li² and Xiaojiang Li²

¹Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics and ²Human Genetics, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322

Jiang, WenXiao, ShiHua Li, and XiaoJiang Li. "Therapeutic potential of berberine against neurodegenerative diseases." *Science China Life Sciences* (2015): 1-6.

Corresponding author contact

Email: xli2@emory.edu

Tele: 404-727-3290, Fax: 404-727-3949

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Wenxiao Jiang authored the manuscript while Shihua Li and XiaoJiang Li edited the

paper for content.

2.1 Abstract

Berberine (BBR) is an organic small molecule isolated from various plants that have been used in traditional Chinese medicine. Isolation of this compound was its induction into modern medicine, and its usefulness became quickly apparent as seen in its ability to combat bacterial diarrhea, type 2 diabetes, hypercholesterolemia, inflammation, heart diseases, and more. However, BBR's effects on neurodegenerative diseases remained relatively unexplored until its ability to stunt Alzheimer's disease (AD) progression was characterized. In this review, we will delve into the multi-faceted defensive capabilities and bio-molecular pathways of BBR against AD, Parkinson's disease (PD), and trauma-induced neurodegeneration. The multiple effects of BBR, some of which enhance neuro-protective factors/ pathways and others counteract targets that induce neurodegeneration, suggest that there are many more branches to the diverse capabilities of BBR that have yet to be uncovered. The promising results seen provide a convincing and substantial basis to support further scientific exploration and development of the therapeutic potential of BBR against neurodegenerative diseases.

Key Points

- BBR has a positive effect on AD, PD, and general neurodegeneration
- BBR merits exploration of therapeutic potential against neurodegenerative diseases

2.2 Introduction

Berberine (BBR) is an organic compound isolated from various herbs such as *Coptis chinensis, Berberis vulgaris, Hydrastis Canadensis, Phellodendron amurense*. For decades, Chinese medicine has used the plants and their extracts to treat diarrhea with no observable negative side-effects or toxicity in patients [1-3]. Modern advances in research, however, allowed us to discover BBR as the active compound and to synthesize it. As a result, BBR was found to be a small molecule with a molecular weight of only 371.8 Da [3] (Fig.1).

BBR has been used clinically to treat bacterial diarrhea, hypercholesterolemia, type 2 diabetes, cardiac disease, cancer, and more [3-14]. Although studies in rodents have shown that BBR can cross the blood brain barrier with positive effects on brain function, the mechanism remains unclear [15]. This factor points to the possibility that BBR may have pronounced effects on the brain and central nervous system. Additionally, in animal trials, BBR has shown itself to have positive effects on Alzheimer's and Parkinson's models [16, 17]. Although we possess only a nascent understanding of BBR's effects and mechanisms on the brain and nervous system, its effects on Alzheimer's models (achieving phenotypical amelioration), Parkinson's models, and its uncanny ability to act with robust diversity, begin to shed light on BBR's abilities to positively effect the outcome in diseases of the central nervous system.

According to the Center of Disease Control in the United States, an estimated 5 million people suffer from Alzheimer's disease (AD) [18]. AD is a late-onset disease, typically presenting after age 60 that is characterized by memory loss and handicapped

daily functions. To this day, the exact cause of AD has not been pinpointed, with scientists currently believing the disease to arise from multiple contributing factors including genetic and environmental influences. However, end diagnosis always rests with beta-amyloid plaque build-up in the brain [19]. Despite the prevalence and severity of AD, its complexity has left modern science without answer, but in dire need of treatment options.

Parkinson's disease (PD) is another common form of neurological disease that presents classically with resting tremor, rigidity, bradykinesia, postural instability and oftentimes, senile dementia [20]. PD is highly prominent especially in western European populations where the prevalence rate is estimated at 160 per 100,000 and as high as 4% amongst persons over the age of 80 [20]. Although the direct pathological cause of PD has been stemmed to protein aggregations (called Lewy bodies) and loss of dopaminergic cells in the substantia nigra, the etiology behind PD is believed to be highly diverse [20, 21] and the exact pathogenic mechanism is still unclear. Although current treatments for PD include dopamine agonists and monoamine oxidase B (MAO-B) inhibitors (to reduce breakdown of dopamine), they are symptom-targeted and produce serious side-effects [22]. To this day, a cure or non-toxic treatment for PD has eluded modern science.

2.3 The therapeutic effect of BBR on AD

Although no single underlying cause has be established for beta-amyloid plaguesassociated AD, a plethora of relatively small imbalances have been found in AD patients

and are likely to contribute to the symptoms of the disease. Due to its multi-faceted nature, BBR has been shown to address several of those imbalances in a positive way. These activities include cholesterol reduction, ERK pathway activation, inhibition of MAO-B activity, defense against damage from reactive oxygen species (ROS), inhibition of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and butyrylcholinesterase (BChE) activity, and betasecretase, and reduction in the amyloid-beta genesis [3, 23-26]. This has lead to an overall reduction in amyloid plaque aggregation and reduction in phenotypic pathology of AD in the mouse model [27].

In 2009, Jung, *et al* ran a number of inhibitory assays to determine the anti-AD effects of several protoberberine alkaloids [24]. The IC50 (50% inhibitory concentration) was determined for each of the six compounds in their ability to stunt an AD-related activity. The inhibitory assays included β -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1), AChE, BChE, and reactive oxygen species (ROS). In addition to total ROS, peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) scavenging was given particular attention due to its strong role in amyloid B formation. Through these assays, Jung *et al* found that although BBR was ineffective at inhibition of BACE1 and total ROS, the compound showed promising results against AChE, BChE, and ONOO- (requiring 0.44, 3.44, and 23.06 uM respectively to reach IC50 of a 100 uM target solution) [24].

In 2013, Panahi, *et al* showed that with 50 mg/kg oral BBR taken daily, rabbits with chemically-induced AD-like symptoms showed improvement as compared to the untreated group. Although weight loss was only moderately abated, survival was significantly improved [25]. Interestingly, the results showed significant inhibition of

BACE1 in the treatment group, which stand in contrast to the prior findings of Jung *et al* [24].

Asai, *et al* also discovered that 10 uM BBR could reduce amyloid B levels to 30% of the untreated amount *in vitro* [26]. Furthermore, through Western-blotting of the different components of amyloid precursor protein (APP), they discovered that the mechanism behind the reduction was the result of APP pathway modulation towards a non-amyloid metabolite, as opposed to direct destruction of the protein itself or of its precursor [26].

Using a transgenic AD model mouse strain (CRN8D), Durairajan, *et al* tested the effects of BBR on neurological impairment. The group found that BBR significantly reduced amyloid B plaque aggregation, leading to amelioration of mental and neuronal impairment in the treated group as compared to untreated transgenic control [27]. Results also showed that these effects were achieved through inhibition of APP phosphorylation via suppression of glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) 3 activation [27]. In addition, the group found that treatment with a lower dosage (25mg/kg) often showed preferential results as compared to treatment with a higher dosage (100mg/kg) [27].

All these studies present consistent information of BBR's effects against the various components of AD pathogenesis and its end treatment results as manifested in the amelioration of disease and pathology presentation as well as retardation of progression of AD. Furthermore, the dosage study done by the Li's group [27] suggests that to further develop the therapeutic capabilities of BBR against AD, biochemical

approaches must be elicited, as increases in concentration can be counter-productive in treatment.

2.4 The therapeutic effect of BBR on PD

Although the pathology of Parkinson's Disease (PD) has been pinned to the formation of Lewy body protein aggregates and loss of dopaminergic neurons in the brain, the causes that lead up to the pathology are largely unknown. Due to our lack of understanding of the true cause of this disease, effective treatment strategies remain to be developed. Thus, current therapies against PD are limited to amelioration of its symptoms, the main focus of which is stemmed around prevention or retardation of further dopaminergic neuronal loss. There has been substantially less research done on the therapeutic potential of BBR against PD than there has been against AD, and the mixed results and lack of clear success could be the reason. However, there are at least two documented effects that merit BBR or at least some derivative or metabolite in consideration for continued studies to further address the possibility of its use as an anti-PD agent.

In 2014, Kim, *et al* used a chemically-induced mouse model of PD to test the neuro-protective effect of BBR. According to their data, at 50 mg/kg, BBR significantly prevented both memory and balance loss in those PD mice as compared to their untreated counterparts [28]. They found that there was corresponding lack of dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia nigra and decreases apoptosis in the hippocampus of the treated group as compared with the untreated control [28]. This

recent study showed a very promising outlook for BBR for consideration as a select compound for treatment against PD.

However, the results of Kim, *et al* stand in stark contrast to the findings of the Lee group in South Korea, which published two accounts [29, 30] of the neurotoxic effects of BBR when used to treat chemically-induced rat models of PD. In these studies, first, a PC12 cell model of PD showed that when treated with BBR, dopaminergic loss was elevated as compared to the untreated controls [29]. Treatment of a PD rat model with BBR (both at 5mg/kg and 15mg/kg) aggravated depletion of dopamine and norepinephrine as well as degeneration of tyrosine hydroxylaseimmunopositive cells *in vivo* [30]. It is important to note that the differences in findings between the Lee and Yang group could possibly be partially attributed to their differences in animal models (mouse vs. rat) and the rate at which the species naturally metabolizes BBR.

As MAO-A and MAO-B are both natural dopamine-degrading agents, their inhibition has always been therapeutic strategy against PD. However, due to the toxic side-effects of MAO inhibitors, this route has usually been reserved as the final effort in a patient's treatment against advancing PD. Castillo, *et al* used direct LED fluorescence to detect changes in MAO-B levels in hopes of using the method as a way to confirm to successes of various MAO-B inhibiting agents in PD treatment [31]. Although it was previously known that BBR could inhibit MAO activity (with an IC50 of 126 uM for MAO-A and 98.4 uM for MAO-B), the results of the Jaimes group put into perspective the usability of BBR as a MAO-inhibitor for PD treatment [23, 31, 32]. Compared to

other MAO inhibitors that can often be highly toxic, BBR is highly preferable for its safety.

Bae, *et al* discovered from *in vitro* studies using the human-derived SH-SY₅Y cells as an *in vitro* model of dopaminergic neurons that BBR prevented cell death by protecting against ROS damage [33]. The mechanism relied on activation of heme oxygenase-1 and inhibition of caspase-3 activation to parry neuronal apoptosis [33].

Taken together, while these results do show the possibilities of BBR as a therapeutic agent against PD, they also suggest proceeding with caution, as slight species-dependent differences in BBR metabolism could account for different efficacy of BBR.

2.5 General neuroprotective effects of BBR

BBR has also shown broaden neuroprotective effects. General oxidative damage to neurons and neurodegeneration plays an important role in a wide range of neurological disorders. To achieve its neuroprotective effects, BBR has been reported to activate nuclear factor-like 2 (Nrf2), aids in phosphorylation of Protein Kinase B (Akt), and cAMP response element binding protein (CREB), down-regulates nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB), and enhances phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) expression via (P55y subunit) increasing promoter activity [34-44].

Using mouse neuroblastoma cell lines, Hsu *et al* determined the *in vitro* neuroprotective effects of BBR. They found that in addition to the known anti-oxidative

pathways, BBR was also capable of activating Nrf2, an anti-oxidant factor. Furthermore, they also found evidence that BBR stymied neuronal cell death by bolstering B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2), an antagonist of apoptosis [34].

In addition, Zhang, *et al* used a rat stroke model to test the abilities of BBR to protect against stroke. They found BBR to be neuroprotective in the acute phase of the stroke when administered immediately after insult. They also traced the BBR's ability to up-regulate phosphorylation of neuroprotective factors: Akt, and CREB [35]. BBR was also found to down-regulate the inflammatory response factor, NF-kB, to suppress inflammation in the area [35]. Interestingly, they also discovered that BBR can affect the permeability of the blood-brain barrier by up-regulating the integral membrane protein, claudin-5 [35].

In 2011, Hu, *et al* found that in a mouse model with surgically induced stroke, BBR presented a unique way of bypassing a self-insulting down-regulation of the cell growth/proliferation factor, PI₃K [36]. In their model, BBR could target the P₅₅y subunit of PI₃K and enhance its promoter activity while side-stepping its natural antagonists, Ly294002 and Akti-1/2, which is also an Akt inhibitor [36]. This resulted in significantly enhanced reperfusion to the damaged areas as compared to the untreated controls [36]. Interestingly, this group chose caudal intravenous administration of BBR between 0.002 and 0.2 mg/kg as opposed to the more economic, safer, and much more commonly used oral gavage route.

2.6 Effects of BBR on the common pathways in neurodegeneration

The multifaceted abilities of BBR to act against several neurodegenerative conditions or afflictions suggests that it may act on the shared pathways of neurodegeneration in these diseases. MAO-B inhibition has been implicated to have positive effects against both Alzheimer's and Parkinson's patients [45-6]. A possible reason could be that the MAO-B-mediated dopamine metabolism pathway leads to H₂O₂ generation and as MAO-B activity is elevated in AD and PD, the excess H₂O₂ can cause oxidative stress and damage [47]. Damage, as well as proapoptotic stimulation from reactive oxygen species (ROS) has also been implicated in a wide array of neurodegenerative afflictions [48-9] and the ability of BBR to counteract ROS certainly serves to uphold its ability to affect a diverse group of ailments in which neurodegeneration is a major factor. Furthermore, BBR's inhibitory effects on AChE could lead to effects on a great number of neurodegenerative diseases as AChE has exhibited apoptotic induction, in addition to its general role as antagonist to acetylcholine [50]. Because of this, AChE inhibition is already in use as a therapeutic approach to curtailing neurodegeneration [51]. General neuro-protective factors that BBR can enhance or up-regulate include Nrf2, GLP-1 and others. Nrf2 has shown neuroprotection through a pathway that defends against ROS damage [52-3]. GLP-1 up-regulation and receptor stimulation has exhibited neuro-protective effects to preserve dopaminergic neurons, which have applications in stroke, AD, PD, Huntington's disease (HD) and more [54-6]. Additionally, BBR's ability to phosphorylate AKT and activate the PI3K-AKT signaling pathway results in the ability to resist apoptosis via inhibition of caspases and cytochrome C [57-9]. CREB is another

important protein, the phosphorylation of which can be up-regulated by BBR. Research has shown pCREB to be an essential part of neurons that survive insult, and knocking it down could cause neurodegeneration in the brain [60-1]. Due to these common pathways that result in neurodegeneration, BBR is able to affect a great number of disorders in which neurodegeneration is key (Fig.2).

To summarize, BBR has exhibited promising neuroprotective properties going through a multitude of known bio-molecular pathways and undoubtedly a vast number of unknown ones to not only defend against neuronal damage and loss but also to aid in reperfusion of previously damaged tissue. Furthermore, due to the multi-faceted nature of BBR, there are sure to be more that await discovery, some of which could hold the key to some of the stubborn neurodegenerative diseases that we struggle with today.

2.7 Conclusion

BBR has shown great therapeutic potential against neurodegenerative diseases including AD and PD as well as stroke. Its ability to effectively cross the blood-brain barrier as well as its small size, which allows for the uncanny ability to act on a number of molecular targets, is a pillar of its merit as an anti-neurodegenerative agent. Because of the extensive range of effects, BBR is likely to address diseases in a positive way by correcting multiple deficiencies and tackling the problem from multiple angles simultaneously. However, BBR is unlikely to have a very strong effect on any single one of these aspects, which may both limit its effect but also prevent harmful levels of imbalance. These facts coupled with its overall favorable effects on brain function

suggest a potential myriad of other undiscovered applications on neurodegenerative diseases. The other pillar is its safety, with no documented serious toxic effects even in high doses given orally. Because of this crucial feature, and that it has been safely clinically used in China for decades even for long-term treatment, upon even mildmoderate success on animal models, BBR could quickly advance through clinical trials (for specific ailments) rather than taking the usual several long steps before being deemed safe. On a final note, the therapeutic potential of BBR shows great promise and merits great interest and research investment for future development and exploration into the possibilities of this multi-faceted, non-toxic botanic compound.





Fig.1 Molecular structure of Berberine





Fig.2 BBR interacts with many pathways that are affiliated with neurodegeneration or neuroprotection.

References

- Takase, H., Yamamoto, K., Ito, K., & Yumioka, E. Pharmacological studies on antidiarrheal effects of berberine and geranii herba. Nihon yakurigaku zasshi. Folia pharmacologica Japonica. 1993;102(2):10-112.
- Kheir, M. M., Wang, Y., Hua, L., Hu, J., Li, L., Lei, F., & Du, L. Acute toxicity of berberine and its correlation with the blood concentration in mice. Food and Chemical Toxicology. 2010;48(4):1105-1110.
- Kong, W., Wei, J., Abidi, P., Lin, M., Inaba, S., Li, C., ... & Jiang, J. D. Berberine is a novel cholesterol-lowering drug working through a unique mechanism distinct from statins. Nature medicine. 2004;10(12):1344-1351.
- Zhang, H., Wei, J., Xue, R., Wu, J. D., Zhao, W., Wang, Z. Z., ... & Jiang, J. D. Berberine lowers blood glucose in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients through increasing insulin receptor expression. Metabolism. 2010;59(2):285-292.
- Bao-Xin, Li, Bao-Feng, Yang, Jin, Zhou, Chang-Qing, Xu, & Yu-Rong, Li. Inhibitory effects of berberine on IK1, IK, and HERG channels of cardiac myocytes. Zhongguo yao li xue bao= Acta pharmacologica Sinica. 2001;22(2):125-131.
- 6. Jiang, Q., Liu, P., Wu, X., Liu, W., Shen, X., Lan, T., ... & Huang, H. Berberine attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced extracelluar matrix accumulation and inflammation in rat mesangial cells: involvement of NF-κB signaling pathway. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2011;331(1):34-40.

- 7. Hayashi, K., Minoda, K., Nagaoka, Y., Hayashi, T., & Uesato, S. Antiviral activity of berberine and related compounds against human cytomegalovirus. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters. 2007;17(6):1562-1564.
- Iizuka, N., Miyamoto, K., Okita, K., Tangoku, A., Hayashi, H., Yosino, S., ... & Oka, M. Inhibitory effect of Coptidis Rhizoma and berberine on the proliferation of human esophageal cancer cell lines. Cancer letters. 2000;148(1):19-25.
- Sack, R. B., & Froehlich, J. L. Berberine inhibits intestinal secretory response of Vibrio cholerae and Escherichia coli enterotoxins. Infection and immunity. 1982;35(2):471-475.
- 10. Hong, Y., Hui, S. C., Chan, T. Y., & Hou, J. Y. Effect of berberine on regression of pressure-overload induced cardiac hypertrophy in rats. The American journal of Chinese medicine. 2002;30(4):589-599.
- Dong, S. F., Hong, Y., Liu, M., Hao, Y. Z., Yu, H. S., Liu, Y., & Sun, J. N. Berberine attenuates cardiac dysfunction in hyperglycemic and hypercholesterolemic rats. European journal of pharmacology. 2011;660(2):368-374.
- Zhang, Y., Li, X., Zou, D., Liu, W., Yang, J., Zhu, N., ... & Ning, G. Treatment of type 2 diabetes and dyslipidemia with the natural plant alkaloid berberine. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2008;93(7):2559-2565.
- 13. Peng, P. L., Hsieh, Y. S., Wang, C. J., Hsu, J. L., & Chou, F. P. Inhibitory effect of berberine on the invasion of human lung cancer cells via decreased productions of urokinase-plasminogen activator and matrix metalloproteinase-2. Toxicology and applied pharmacology. 2006; 214(1):8-15.

- 14. Lin, T. H., Kuo, H. C., Chou, F. P., & Lu, F. J. Berberine enhances inhibition of glioma tumor cell migration and invasiveness mediated by arsenic trioxide. BMC cancer. 2008;8(1):58.
- 15. Peng, W. H., Wu, C. R., Chen, C. S., Chen, C. F., Leu, Z. C., & Hsieh, M. T. Anxiolytic effect of berberine on exploratory activity of the mouse in two experimental anxiety models: interaction with drugs acting at 5-HT receptors. Life sciences. 2004;75(20):2451-2462.
- 16. Zhu, F., & Qian, C. Berberine chloride can ameliorate the spatial memory impairment and increase the expression of interleukin-1beta and inducible nitric oxide synthase in the rat model of Alzheimer's disease. BMC neuroscience. 2006;7(1):78.
- 17. Kwon, I. H., Choi, H. S., Shin, K. S., Lee, B. K., Lee, C. K., Hwang, B. Y., ... & Lee,
 M. K. Effects of berberine on 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity in PC12
 cells and a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience letters. 2010;48(1):29-33.
- 18. Hebert LE, Scherr PA, Beckett LA, Albert MS, Pilgrim DM, Chown MJ, et al. Agespecific incidence of Alzheimer's Disease in a community population. Journal of the American Medical Association 1995;273:1354-9.
- 19. Hardy J, Allsop D. Amyloid Deposition as the Central Event in the Aetiology of Alzheimer's Disease. Trends Pharmacol. Sci.. 1991;12(10):383–88.

20. Davie CA. A review of Parkinson's disease. Br. Med. Bull. 2008;86(1):109–27.

- 21. Dickson DV. Neuropathology of movement disorders. In Tolosa E, Jankovic JJ.
 Parkinson's disease and movement disorders. Hagerstown, MD: Lippincott
 Williams & Wilkins; 2007. pp.271–83.
- 22. The National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions, ed. "Symptomatic pharmacological therapy in Parkinson's disease". Parkinson's Disease. London: Royal College of Physicians; 2006. pp.59–100.
- 23. Castillo, J., Hung, J., Rodriguez, M., Bastidas, E., Laboren, I., & Jaimes, A. LED fluorescence spectroscopy for direct determination of monoamine oxidase B inactivation. Analytical biochemistry. 2005;343(2):293-298.
- 24. Jung, H. A., Min, B. S., Yokozawa, T., Lee, J. H., Kim, Y. S., & Choi, J. S. Anti-Alzheimer and antioxidant activities of Coptidis Rhizoma alkaloids. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 2009;32(8):1433-1438.
- 25. Panahi, N., Mahmoudian, M., Mortazavi, P., & Hashjin, G. S. Effects of berberine on β-secretase activity in a rabbit model of Alzheimer's disease. Arch Med Sci. 2013;9:146-150.
- 26. Asai, M., Iwata, N., Yoshikawa, A., Aizaki, Y., Ishiura, S., Saido, T.C., Maruyama,
 K. Berberine alters the processing of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein to
 decrease Abeta secretion. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2007;352:498-502.
- 27. Durairajan, S. S. K., Liu, L. F., Lu, J. H., Chen, L. L., Yuan, Q., Chung, S. K., ... & Li, M. Berberine ameliorates β-amyloid pathology, gliosis, and cognitive impairment in an Alzheimer's disease transgenic mouse model. Neurobiology of Aging. 2012;33(12):2903-2919.
- 28. Kim, Mia, et al. "Berberine prevents nigrostriatal dopaminergic neuronal loss and suppresses hippocampal apoptosis in mice with Parkinson's disease." International journal of molecular medicine. 2014;33(4):870-878.
- 29. Kwon, Ik Hyun, et al. "Effects of berberine on 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells and a rat model of Parkinson's disease." Neuroscience letters. 2010;486(1):29-33.
- 30.Shin, Keon Sung, et al. "Neurotoxic effects of berberine on long-term l-DOPA administration in 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rat model of Parkinson's disease." Archives of pharmacal research. 2013;36(6):759-767.
- 31. Castillo, Jimmy A., et al. Direct led-fluorescence method for Mao-B inactivation in the treatment of Parkinson's. 5th Iberoamerican Meeting on Optics and 8th Latin American Meeting on Optics, Lasers, and Their Applications. International Society for Optics and Photonics; 2004. pp.142-148.
- 32. Kong, L.D.; Cheng, C.H.; Tan, R.X. Monoamine oxidase inhibitors from rhizoma of Coptis chinensis. Planta Med. 2001;67:74-76.
- 33. Bae, Jinbum, et al. Berberine protects 6-hydroxydopamine-induced human dopaminergic neuronal cell death through the induction of heme oxygenase-1. Molecules and cells. 2013;35(2):151-157.
- 34. Hsu, Ya-Yun, et al. Berberine activates Nrf2 nuclear translocation and protects against oxidative damage via a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt-dependent mechanism in NSC34 motor neuron-like cells. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2012;46(5):415-425.

- 35. Zhang, Xiaolin, et al. Neuroprotection of early and short-time applying berberine in the acute phase of cerebral ischemia: Up-regulated pAkt, pGSK and pCREB, down-regulated NF-κB expression, ameliorated BBB permeability. Brain research. 2012;1459:61-70.
- 36. Hu, Jun, et al. PI3K p55γ promoter activity enhancement is involved in the antiapoptotic effect of berberine against cerebral ischemia–reperfusion. European journal of pharmacology. 2012;674(2):132-142.
- 37. Zhou, Xi-Qiao, et al. Neuroprotective effects of berberine on stroke models in vitro and in vivo. Neuroscience letters. 2008;447(1):31-36.
- 38. Cui, Hu-Shan, et al. Berberine exerts neuroprotective actions against in vitro ischemia-induced neuronal cell damage in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures: involvement of B-cell lymphoma 2 phosphorylation suppression. Biological & pharmaceutical bulletin. 2009;32(1):79-85.
- 39. Lim, Jung Su, et al. Neuroprotective effects of berberine in neurodegeneration model rats induced by ibotenic acid. Animal Cells and Systems. 2008;12(4):203-209.
- 40.Zhang, Jing, et al. Berberine and total base from rhizoma coptis chinensis attenuate brain injury in an aluminum-induced rat model of neurodegenerative disease. Saudi medical journal. 2009;30(6):760-766.
- 41. Hong, Jeong-Seok, et al. Effects of berberine on hippocampal neuronal damage and matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity following transient global cerebral ischemia. Journal of neuroscience research. 2012;90(2):489-497.

- 42. Benaissa, F., et al. "Berberine reduces the hypoxic-ischemic insult in rat pup brain." Acta Physiologica Hungarica. 2009:96(2):213-220.
- 43. Lee, Taehwan, Hwon Heo, and Yunhee Kim Kwon. Effect of berberine on cell survival in the developing rat brain damaged by MK-801. Experimental neurobiology. 2010;19(3):140-145.
- 44. Bhutada, Pravinkumar, et al. Protection of cholinergic and antioxidant system contributes to the effect of berberine ameliorating memory dysfunction in rat model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Behavioural brain research.
 2011;220(1):30-41.
- 45. Mangoni, A., et al. "Effects of a MAO-B inhibitor in the treatment of Alzheimer disease." European neurology. 1991; 31(2): 100-107.
- 46. Rabey, J. M., et al. "Rasagiline mesylate, a new MAO-B inhibitor for the treatment of Parkinson's disease: a double-blind study as adjunctive therapy to levodopa." *Clinical neuropharmacology*. 2000; 23(6): 324-330.
- 47. Kurth, Janice H., et al. "Association of a monoamine oxidase B allele with Parkinson's disease." *Annals of neurology*. 1993; 33(4): 368-372.
- 48. Rego, A. Cristina, and Catarina R. Oliveira. "Mitochondrial dysfunction and reactive oxygen species in excitotoxicity and apoptosis: implications for the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases." *Neurochemical research*. 2003; 28(10): 1563-1574.

- 49. St-Pierre, Julie, et al. "Suppression of reactive oxygen species and neurodegeneration by the PGC-1 transcriptional coactivators." Cell. 2006;127(2): 397-408.
- 50. Yang, Lei, Heng-Yi He, and Xue-Jun Zhang. "Increased expression of intranuclear AChE involved in apoptosis of SK-N-SH cells." Neuroscience research. 2002; 42(4): 261-268.
- 51. Holzgrabe, Ulrike, et al. "Targeting acetylcholinesterase to treat neurodegeneration." 2007: 161-179.
- 52. Vargas, Marcelo R., et al. "Nrf2 activation in astrocytes protects against neurodegeneration in mouse models of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis." The Journal of Neuroscience. 2008; 28(50): 13574-13581.
- 53. de Vries, Helga E., et al. "Nrf2-induced antioxidant protection: a promising target to counteract ROS-mediated damage in neurodegenerative disease?." Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2008; 45(10): 1375-1383.
- 54. Perry, TracyAnn, et al. "Evidence of GLP-1-mediated neuroprotection in an animal model of pyridoxine-induced peripheral sensory neuropathy." Experimental neurology. 2007; 203(2): 293-301.
- 55. Hölscher, Christian. "The role of GLP-1 in neuronal activity and neurodegeneration." Vitam Horm. 2010; 84: 331-354.
- 56. Li, Yazhou, et al. "GLP-1 receptor stimulation preserves primary cortical and dopaminergic neurons in cellular and rodent models of stroke and

Parkinsonism." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2009; 106(4): 1285-1290.

- 57. Kennedy, Scott G., et al. "Akt/Protein kinase B inhibits cell death by preventing the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria." Molecular and cellular biology. 1999; 19(8): 5800-5810.
- 58. Brunet, Anne, Sandeep Robert Datta, and Michael E. Greenberg. "Transcriptiondependent and-independent control of neuronal survival by the PI3K–Akt signaling pathway." Current opinion in neurobiology. 2001; 11(3): 297-305.
- 59. Nakaso, Kazuhiro, Satoru Ito, and Kenji Nakashima. "Caffeine activates the PI3K/Akt pathway and prevents apoptotic cell death in a Parkinson's disease model of SH-SY5Y cells." Neuroscience letters. 2008; 432(2): 146-150.
- 60.Mantamadiotis, Theo, et al. "Disruption of CREB function in brain leads to neurodegeneration." Nature genetics. 2002; 31(1): 47-54.
- 61. Dragunow, Mike. "CREB and neurodegeneration." Frontiers in bioscience: a journal and virtual library. 2004; 9: 100-103.

Chapter III:

Therapeutic Effect of Berberine on Huntington's Disease Transgenic Mouse Model

Wenxiao Jiang^{1,3}, Wenjie Wei^{1,2}, Marta A. Gaertig¹, Shihua Li¹, Xiao-Jiang Li¹

¹Department of Human Genetics, Emory University School of Medicine, 615 Michael Street, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA. ²Department of Neurology, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430032, China

³Graduate program of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA.

In consideration at PLoS ONE with minor revision May 5, 2015

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Wenxiao Jiang authored the manuscript, analyzed data, and performed experiments other than qRT-PCR. Wenjie Wei performed qRT-PCR. Marta A. Gaertig helped with maintaining mice. Li XiaoJiang and Li Shihua edited the manuscript

3.1 Abstract

Huntington disease (HD) represents a family of neurodegenerative diseases that are caused by misfolded proteins. The misfolded proteins accumulate in the affected brain regions in an age-dependent manner to cause late-onset neurodegeneration. Transgenic mouse models expressing the HD protein, huntingtin, have been widely used to identify therapeutics that may retard disease progression. Here we report that Berberine (BBR), an organic small molecule isolated from plants, has protective effects on transgenic HD (N171-82Q) mice. We found that BBR can reduce the accumulation of mutant huntingtin in cultured cells. More importantly, when given orally, BBR could effectively alleviate motor dysfunction and prolong the survival of transgenic N171-82Q HD mice. We found that BBR could promote the degradation of mutant huntingtin by enhancing autophagic function. Since BBR is an orally-taken drug that has been safely used to treat a number of diseases, our findings suggest that BBR can be tested on different HD animal models and HD patients to further evaluate its therapeutic effects.

Key words: Berberine, Huntington, autophagy, therapy

3.2 Introduction

Huntington's disease (HD) is a severe neurodegenerative disease that is characterized by chorea, dystonia, motor coordination loss, and mental deterioration. Age of HD onset is usually mid to late life, but in rare cases, may be seen in juveniles. The HD gene encodes huntingtin (Htt), a 350kDa protein with a variable-length polyglutamine (polyQ) tract encoded in exon 1 of the HD gene [1]. Expansion of the polyQ repeat tract (>36Q) results in HD, and increases of over 55Q lead to fast progression juvenile-onset HD [2, 3]. The reason for this threshold is most likely that expanded polyQ repeats cause N-terminal Htt fragments to misfold, leading to abnormal protein interactions and aggregation of mutant Htt [4, 5]. Although the role of Htt aggregates in HD remains controversial, they result from the accumulation of mutant Htt and have been used to assess the therapeutic effects of drugs on HD.

Currently, there is no effective treatment for HD, though some drugs, such as tetrabenazine and haloperidol, have been used in clinical studies for controlling symptoms of HD [6, 7]. One candidate that has shown promise through relatively recent discoveries is the plant-derived protoberberine alkaloid called Berberine (BBR). This small molecule with a molecular weight of 336.4 g/mol is derived from the roots and bark of various plants, such as *Coptis chinenses, Berberis sp.*, and has been used for over six decades in Chinese medicine as an over-the-counter for treatment of bacterial diarrhea [8, 9]. However, recent discoveries have unearthed a bounty of additional uses for this botanical compound, including its ability to combat hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, cardiac disease, inflammation, and the side-effects of radiotherapy [10-17].

Due to the high tolerance for orally-taken doses (LD50>5g/kg), BBR has been proven safe for long-term use, is readily available in the bloodstream 2 hours after oral intake and, more importantly, is able to freely cross the blood-brain-barrier [14, 18, 19], which make it an ideal drug candidate to test its protective effects on chronic neurological disorders.

The most encouraging and relevant discovery to HD is BBR's ability to ameliorate the symptoms and pathology of Alzheimer's Disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD) animal models [16, 20-23]. The ability of BBR to reduce b-amyloid aggregation and accumulation in AD mice bears promising hope that it could do the same against HD, as both diseases are caused by the accumulation of misfolded proteins. Here, we examined the effects of BBR on mutant Htt's accumulation and toxicity in cellular and animal models of HD.

3.3 Materials and Methods

Ethics statement

All procedures were performed in accordance with the U.S. Public Health Service Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Emory University.

Mice

The N171-82Q mice were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (strain 003627), which are a transgenic HD mouse model expressing 171 amino acids of the N-terminal Htt containing 82 glutamine repeats in the PolyQ tract under the mouse prion promoter [28]. Male N171-82Q mice were mated with wild type female mice to produce offspring mice on a B6 x C3H background. Genotyping was performed using PCR on DNA obtained from tail samples. Primers for genotyping N171 82Q mice are as follows: sense S26: 5'-CTA CGA GTC CCT CAA GTC CTT CCA GC-3', antisense A151: 5'-GAC GCA GCA GCG GCT GTG CCT G-3'. Wild type littermates and N171-82Q mice were used for investigation of their behaviors and the expression of transgenic mutant Htt. N171-82Q mice become increasingly symptomatic from 6-8 weeks with a short lifespan of 16-22 weeks. All mice were housed in groups of no more than 5 under a 12 h light/dark cycle with ad libitum access to normal chow diet at normal room temperature (22-25°C). 4 groups were created: mutant group treated with BBR, mutant group treated with vehicle, WT group treated with BBR, and WT group treat with vehicle. Each group consisted of 7 animals: 5 males and 2 females. The groups were created by separating the mutant and WT siblings of several litters all birthed within 4 days of each other. The fathers of these litters were N171 82Q mutants from a single bloodline and the mothers were unrelated WT females.

Antibodies and Reagents

Mouse monoclonal antibody to Htt (mEM48) is as described [24]. Rabbit anti-LC3B and mouse anti-b-actin were purchased from ABGENT; mouse anti-P62 was purchased from Sigma. Green fluorescent Alexa488 donkey anti-mouse and all secondary antibodies were purchased from Jackson Labs.

Berberine-chloride and Bafilomycin-A were purchased from Sigma. Htt plasmids expressing exon1 Htt containing 120Q (HD120Q-GFP) or 20Q (HD20Q-GFP), which is fused with GFP, were generated in our previous studies [25].

Cell culture and transfection

HEK293 cells were cultured in 12-well plates in DMEM/F12 (Invitrogen) containing 10% (vol/vol) FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 μ g/mL streptomycin (Invitrogen), and 250 μ g/ μ L Fungizone amphotericin B. Cells were maintained at 37°C in 5% CO₂ incubators. At roughly 50% confluence, cells were transfected with 0.25 μ g of plasmid DNA per well using Lipofectamine 2000 (2mg/mL from Invitrogen) for 6 h in serum free medium. Within the next 24-48 h, the following were added: BBR (dissolved in methanol to final concentration of 5-100 μ M), BFA (Bafilomycin A dissolved in DMSO to final concentration of 200 nM). In each case, the dilution was made such that 1 μ L of the dissolved BBR or BFA was added to the well with 1 mL culture media. One μ L of the vehicle was added to the control wells. The cells were then harvested at 48 h after BBR treatment or 24 h after BFA treatment.

Oral gavage of BBR

Four mg BBR were dissolved in 1 mL ddH_2O and mixed in a 2 mL tissue emulsifier (Wheaton). The solution of BBR (40 mg per kg or 10ml per gram of body

weight) was gavaged daily to each mouse (without anesthesia due to the dangers of daily anesthesia and the need for alert feedback from the mouse in case of abnormal occurrence). The same volume of ddH2O was gavaged into control mouse groups. Oral gavage was performed with 24G-1" 1.25 mm ball-tip stainless steel feeding needles slightly bent inserted along the back of the throat in mice. One mL syringes were used for the injection of BBR solution, which was done slowly without excessive pressure. If any mouse struggling was noticed, needle was withdrawn, and the mouse was given a brief rest before the needle was reinserted to administer the remaining solution. Mice were observed for roughly 15 minutes post-gavage to ensure normal and alert behavior. Oral administration of BBR started from 4 weeks of age until the death or sacrifice of animals.

Behavioral studies

Behavioral tests were performed in a room that was set to minimize external sound or visual disturbance. Rotarod performance was examined using Rotamex from Columbus Instruments. Bottom position of drop pan was well-padded with tissue paper to diminish chance of injury from fall. Mice were first trained once a day for 3 consecutive days, allowing them to run freely for 10 min per training session. After training, each mouse was run in triplicate per test and the average was taken. If any value presented at less than half of other values, a retrial was given and counted only if it was higher than the initial value. Grip strength was tested using Chatillon-Ametek 2lbf force meter mounted to Columbus Instruments grip force meter stand. Mice were allowed to grip the grid with all 4 appendages and were pulled with a single constant force by the tail until removed from the machine. Each mouse was tested in triplicate and the average was taken.

Balance beam test was run using a 0.6 cm thick meter stick suspended from a platform on both sides by metal grips. The total running distance was roughly 0.8 m. There is a bright light at the starting point and a dark box at the endpoint. Prior to data-collection, each mouse was trained for 3 consecutive days with 3 runs per day. After training, mice were allowed to run only 1 time, since consecutive runs always yielded increasingly inferior results due to lack of will/curiosity, and the time taken to cross the beam was collected.

Sacrifice

The bodyweights of mice were at first monitored weekly, but increased to biweekly near the final weeks of the experiment as the mice atrophy. Mice were monitored daily before each gavage for excessive trembling, loss of coordination and muscle weakness. The endpoint was reached when a sudden weight drop of ~20% over a week was coupled with severe tremor, weakness, or abnormal gait. When the mice reached this point, they were sacrificed for their brain tissue. They would be put into an isofluorane chamber until knocked out, then swiftly decapitated with a scissor and the brains harvested with one half stored in an 1.5ml Eppendorf tude at -80°C and the other half preserved in Tissue Plus Optimum Cutting Temperature Compound (Fisher Healthcare) and stored at -80°C as well. However, despite these efforts, 6 out of 14 mutant mice died of disease without being sacrificed. (There were no unexpected losses in WT mice.) In these cases, they died without reaching the described endpoint as sometimes N171 82Q mice may pass without obvious debilitation. Care was taken not to over-assess symptoms and sacrifice too early in order to provide more accurate survival data.

Fluorescent microscopy

Cultured cells were fixed with 4% paraformahdehyde (Electron Microscopy Sciences) for 10 min at room temperature and then treated with 0.5% saponin (Fluka). They were then stained with 1:3,000 Hoechst solution for nuclear labeling. The plates were then used directly for fluorescent microscopy to examine the expression of Htt-120Q-GFP and Htt-20Q-GFP.

For immunostaining of mouse brain sections, the freshly-isolated brain tissues were preserved in Tissue Plus Optimum Cutting Temperature Compound and transferred from -80°C for cutting to 10 micron-slices with the Leica CM1850 cryocutting machine set at -20°C. The sections were mounted onto slides and preserved in 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min and washed 3 times in PBS before blocking in 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA), 0.3% Triton X-100 for 2 h at room temperature. Primary antibody mEM48 in 3% BSA was incubated with brain sections for 16 h at 4°C. After washing in PBS, the secondary antibody (green fluorescent Alexa488 donkey antimouse) was added at 1:5,000 for incubation at 4°C for 1-2 h. The slides were then washed again in PBS 3 times before microscopic examination.

Western Blotting

Cultured cells (in 12-well plates) were dissolved in SDS-1% Triton 100-X /PBS at 125 mL per well. The cells were collected into Eppendorf tubes and sonicated (QSonica, LLC XL-2000 at setting 1) for 10 sec on ice. After boiling for 10 min, the samples were loaded into a 4-20% polyacrylamide SDS gel. When brain tissues were analyzed, homogenization buffer was first made freshly by adding 1% Triton 100X, protease inhibitor Pierce 78430 1:100, phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride 100 mm/mg (Sigma), 2 mM sodium orthovanadate 1:200 (Sigma), and sodium fluoride 100 mM (Sigma) to PBS. The mouse brain cortex was homogenized in 100 volumes of the chilled homogenization buffer. The tissue extracts were then sonicated for 10 sec on ice and rocked (Boekel Scientific Orbitron Rotator II Model 260250 at max rpm) for 30 min at 4°C before being spun down at 16,000 RPM for 15 min at 4°C. The supernatant was then taken and combined with 0.25 volumes 5x loading dye, followed by boiling for 10 min and sonicated again for 5 sec. The samples were resolved by SDS gel, which was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare Life Science) for 1 hr, which was then blocked for 1 hr in 5% Nestle/Carnation brand powder nonfat bovine milk/PBS. After washing 3 times in PBS for 10 min, each primary antibody in 3% BSA was used to probe the blots for 16 h at 4°C while rocking. Secondary antibodies (donkey anti-mouse, goat anti-rabbit) were used at 1:5,000 for 2 h while rocking at room temperature, and the HyGLO QuickSpray kit (Denville Scientific) and the Konica Minolta SRX-101A film developer were used to detect immunostaining signals.

RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from the brain cortex tissues of 3 BBR-treated N171-82Q transgenic mice and 3 control mice using the RNeasy Lipid Tissue Mini Kit (Qiagen). Reverse transcription reactions were performed with 1.5 µg of total RNA using the Superscript III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen, 18080-051). cDNA (100 ng) was combined with 10 µl SYBR Select Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, 4472908) and 1 µl of each primer in a 20-µl reaction. The reaction was performed in the Eppendorf, Realplex Mastercycler thermocycler. The sequences of the primers are as follows:

Htt sense: 5'-ATGGCGACCCTGGAAAAGCT-3'; Htt antisense: 5-TGCTGCTGGAAGGACTTGAG-3'.

GAPDH sense: 5'-AACTTTGTCAAGCTCATTTCCTGGT-3'; GAPDH antisense: 5'-GGTTTCTTACTCCTTGGAGGCCATG-3'

Statistical analysis

Differences between two groups were evaluated by 2-tailed Student's t-test. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the Bonferroni post-hoc correction was performed to determine pairwise comparisons amongst multiple data sets. For behavioral analysis, at least 7 mice per group were examined, and the results were expressed as the mean± SEM. A P-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

75

3.4 Results

BBR reduces Htt aggregation in transfected HEK293 cells

First, we wanted to see whether BBR would produce any effect on the accumulation of mutant Htt in transfected cells. BBR was added to the culture medium at concentrations of 0, 5, 25, 50, and 100 mM immediately after transfection of HEK293 cells with GFP-exon1 Htt containing 120Q (Htt-120Q). After 48 h of incubation with BBR, the cells were examined via fluorescent microscopy. The results showed a dose-dependent decrease of Htt-120Q aggregates, which were presented as puncta, with notable reduction at 50 mM BBR (Fig. 1A). However, HEK293 cells transfected with the control GFP-exon1 Htt containing 20Q (Htt-20Q) did not exhibit any significant GFP signal reduction with even the highest concentration of BBR (100 mM). The effect of BBR on reducing Htt aggregation was also shown by Western blotting that revealed aggregated Htt in the stacking gel. Quantification of the ratios of aggregated Htt to actin via densitometry also verified the reduction of Htt aggregates by BBR (Fig. 1B, C). These results suggest that BBR can suppress the aggregate formation or the accumulation of mutant Htt (Fig. 1A-C).

Mutant Htt aggregates can become stabilized after they are formed in cells. We wanted to see whether BBR could reduce mutant Htt aggregation after HEK293 cells had expressed mutant Htt for different times. Thus, 50 mm BBR was added to Htt120Q transfected cells at 0, 12, or 24 h post transfection and then incubated with the cells for 48 hours. Immunofluorescent staining images showed time-dependent effects on Htt aggregates, with the greatest reduction of Htt aggregates when HEK293 cells were treated immediately with BBR after transfection and diminishing effect as the treatment was delayed. However, adding BBR at 12-hours post transfection still produced a pronounced inhibitory effect (Fig. 1D). The percentage of cells containing Htt aggregates relative to total cell numbers, which were revealed by the nuclear DAPI staining, was also significantly reduced by BBR (Fig. 1E). Western blotting analysis of aggregated proteins and quantification of the relative levels of aggregated Htt confirmed that the earlier BBR treatment yielded the greater reduction in Htt aggregation (Fig. 1F,G).

BBR activates the autophagy pathway

The effect of BBR to reduce Htt aggregates led us to investigate whether BBR can increase the ability of cells to clear misfolded proteins. Since BBR has been found to upregulate autophagy in cancer cells [26, 27], the autophagy pathway was selected as the primary candidate for investigation.

To determine autophagic flux, we examined LC3B, which converts from form I to from II to serve as the recruiter of autophagosome substrate P62 during the activation of autophagy. Non-transfected or Htt-transfected HEK293 cells were treated with 0, 5, 25, 50, or 100 mM BBR for 48 h. Western blotting analysis of LC3B-I and LC3B-II (Fig 2A) and densitometry were done to compare LC3-I/LC3-II ratio (Fig. 2B). A lower ratio

77

indicates more conversion of LC3-I to LC3-II or activation of autophagy. This ratio was decreased as the concentration of BBR was increased, suggesting that BBR could increase autophagic function (Fig 2B). Increased autophagic activity was also observed in both non-transfected cells and cells transfected with the control Htt-20Q (Fig.2B). To establish a causative relationship between autophagic increases and Htt aggregate reduction, we inhibited autophagy in Htt-120Q-transfected HEK293 cells using bafilomycin A (BFA) and treated these cells with 50 mM BBR. Western blotting showed that BBR reduced Htt aggregation and also antagonized the effect of BFA on increasing Htt aggregation (Fig. 2C). P62 was used as an autophagic indicator, as it is an expendable substrate that decreases with autophagic up-regulation. We also saw a decrease in P62 after BBR treatment and its increase after BFA treatment, verifying BFA's activity to inhibit autophagy. The opposite effects of BBR and BFA on Htt aggregation and P62 were further confirmed by densitometry quantifying of the Western blot results (Fig 2D).

BBR ameliorates the neurological phenotypes in transgenic N171-82Q mice

Next, we wanted to see if the inhibitory effect of BBR on the accumulation of mutant Htt in cultured cells could be mirrored in an HD animal model and result in phenotypical improvements. The N171-82Q mice, which express N-terminal mutant Htt with 82Q and show progressive neurological phenotypes [28], were divided into BBR and vehicle-treated groups (n=7 mice per group). These mice were orally gavaged daily with ddH₂O or 40 mg/kg BBR that was dissolved in ddH₂O. WT siblings were also set

up into groups (n=7 per group) treated with BBR or ddH_2O . BBR treatment was started at 4 weeks of age and continued until sacrifice or death of mice, and mouse behaviors were tested at 6 weeks of age.

The rotarod performance was one of the key tests for assessing motor coordination in a variety of HD mouse models. Rotarod tests, which were conducted weekly from week 6 to 21, indicated that HD mice treated with BBR showed significant improvements on their rotarod performance as compared to HD siblings without BBR treatment (P<0.001) (Fig. 3A). When comparing the rotarod test scores of the BBR-treated and untreated HD mice, one can see an almost linear relative decline of rotarod performance for the untreated group as compared to the BBR treated group (Fig. 3B).

Muscular weakness is another key feature of HD mice, which can be assessed by the grip strength test. Grip strength tests conducted weekly from week 6 to 21 also indicated that the average muscle strength of HD mice was markedly increased after BBR treatment as compared with untreated HD siblings (P<0.05) (Fig. 3C, D). The difference between the untreated and treated HD mice in grip strength became obvious after the poor rotarod performance became apparent (Figs. 3A, C), suggesting that muscular weakness followed neuronal dysfunction in HD mice.

We also used the balance beam test to examine motor coordination function and balance. HD mice were given a balance beam assessment in which the mice walked across a 0.6cm thick, 0.8m long beam (Fig. 3E). The shorter time for the mouse to successfully get across the beam is correlated with the greater motor coordination and balance. The results showed that while BBR-treated HD mice did not exhibit the same

79

dexterity as WT siblings, they were faster than their untreated HD siblings (mean values: 8.69 s for BBR-treated, and 12.65s for untreated HD mice) (Fig. 3E).

Life span is another critical criterion for evaluating treatment efficacy, and we also saw that BBR improved the life span of N171-82Q mice. In general, untreated HD mice began to die before their BBR-treated siblings (life span range: untreated HD mice=112-156 days; BBR-treated HD mice=146-173 days) (Fig. 3G,H). The average life span was 140.86 days for the untreated HD mice and 154.86 days for the BBR-treated HD mice, which is roughly a 10% difference. Despite their prolonged life span, BBR-treated HD mice did not show any significant alteration in body weight compared with the untreated HD group (Fig. 3F). This could possibly be because N171-82Q mice have metabolic defects mediated by mutant Htt in both CNS and peripheral tissues [29, 30] and that BBR is more likely to alleviate motor deficits caused by mutant Htt in the brain. Also, BBR may induce weight loss via cholesterol reduction [9] so this effect may mask any rescuing effects on body weight.

BBR treatment reduced Htt aggregation and increased autophagy in HD mice

Based on the results from cultured cells, we wanted to examine whether BBR also reduced mutant Htt accumulation and aggregation in the HD mouse brain. Immunofluorescent staining of cerebellar brain slices revealed a drastic reduction of mutant Htt aggregates in the BBR-treated HD mouse brains as compared to the untreated HD mouse brains (Fig. 4A). Western blotting of brain cortex samples from 3

80

separate mice per group was done and quantified by densitometry, revealing nearly 50% reduction in mutant Htt aggregate formations in the BBR-treated HD mice as compared to their untreated HD siblings (Fig 4B, C). To investigate whether this reduction occurred at the transcriptional level, RT-qPCR was performed on the HD mouse brain samples that were treated with or without BBR. The results show that BBR did not alter the transcriptional levels of transgenic mutant Htt (Fig. 4D). Thus, BBR is likely to inhibit the accumulation of mutant Htt at the protein level. To examine whether BBR stimulates autophagy to clear mutant Htt, we also probed the western blots with an antibody to P62 and found a moderate decrease in P62 in the BBR-treated group (Fig. 4B,C). Because the BBR-treated HD mice were examined for their behaviors and then sacrificed when they were near death, the most pronounced effects of BBR on autophagy in the HD mouse brain might not have been detected. Thus, the WT control group, which was gavaged with BBR daily at the same time as their HD siblings, was given their last gavage and sacrificed 4 hours later. The brain cortex samples of BBR-treated and untreated mice were then collected for western blot analysis with anti-P62. Densitometry analysis revealed a much more marked decrease in P62 in the BBRtreated mouse brain (Fig 4E,F), which also supports the idea that BBR treatment can increase autophagic activity in the mouse brain.

Discussion

HD shares many pathological features with other neurodegenerative diseases that are caused by protein misfolding. These pathological features include age-dependent accumulation of misfolded proteins and selective degeneration of neuronal cells. Since HD is a monogenetic disorder caused by polyQ expansion in Htt, HD provides an ideal model for us to find therapeutics for neurodegenerative diseases. However, there is still lack of effective treatments for HD, despite large efforts being made to identify its therapeutics [31, 32].

In the current study, we found that BBR can effectively improve motor function of N171-82Q mice. This improvement is evident by the significant increase in performance on the rotarod test by N171-82Q mice after BBR treatment. The increased grip strength of HD mice by BBR treatment also indicates the alleviation of muscle weakness caused by mutant Htt. Also, balance beam test results support the improved motor function and movement coordination of HD mice after BBR treatment. All these effects could contribute to the prolonged life span of BBR-treated HD mice. The dosage of BBR used in this study was 40mg/kg. We also tried two higher doses (150 and 250mg/kg) but both did not yield greater effects than the dosage of 40mg/kg. It remains to be seen if other doses of BBR would produce a greater protective effect on HD mouse symptoms.

BBR has been found to have protective effects on a wide range of pathological events [10-17]. Such diverse effects could account for the protective effect of BBR on HD mice. How BBR can mediate broad beneficial effects against different pathological events remains unknown. It is possible that BBR may act on some common pathological pathways shared by many disease conditions. With potential effects against neurodegenerative diseases, BBR has also exhibited several known effects such as inhibition of monoamine oxidase B (MAO-B), acetylcholinesterase (AChE), upregulation of nuclear factor erythroid 2 (Nrf2), (glycagon-like protein 1) GLP-1, as well as phosphorylation of Protein kinase B (AKT) and CREB [40-44]. inhibition of MAO-B and up-regulation of Nrf2 are both able to defend against damage from reactive oxygen species (ROS) while inhibition of AChE as well as activation of phosphoinositide 3kinase(PI3K)-AKT pathways defend against apoptosis. GLP-1 plays a role in preservation of dopaminergic neurons and phosphorylated cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element-binding protein (CREB) may be related to the ability of neurons to survive damage. Our findings suggest that BBR can activate autophagic function to reduce the accumulation and aggregation of mutant Htt. This therapeutic effect is different from the previous findings for other therapeutics, which rely on improving transcriptional function [33], metabolic function [34, 35], neurotrophic factor signaling pathways [36], mutant Htt conformation, and its interactions with other proteins [24, 37]. The increased autophagic function by BBR could also be beneficial for other pathological conditions in which the accumulation of misfolded proteins leads to neurodegeneration. Consistent with this idea, BBR has been found to reduce the neuropathology in AD transgenic mice [16, 20- 23]. It is also known that the accumulation of toxic forms of peptides and misfolded proteins can lead to a variety of pathological events such as inflammation and altered cellular signaling [38, 39], which could explain the broad protective effects of BBR on a variety of pathological events.

Although our findings suggest that BBR may increase autophagic function to reduce mutant Htt accumulation and the associated neurological phenotypes in HD mice, it remains to be investigated how BBR can up-regulate the autophagy function. Such investigation would require more in-depth studies with sophisticated tools that can explore whether BBR directly associates with autophagic proteins to modulate their function. Despite this, there is a need to report the beneficial effects of BBR on HD, because BBR is an over-the-counter drug that has been safely used to treat a number of diseases. Discovery of its protective effects in N171-82Q mice may promote further exploration of the use of BBR in other HD mouse models as well as patients and perhaps other neurodegenerative diseases that are also caused by misfolded proteins.



А

Transfection: 120Q -



Transfection: 20Q _



















Figure. 1 BBR reduced Htt aggregation *in vitro* **in a dose and timedependent manner. (A)** Immunocytostaining images (10 X) of Htt-120Q- or Htt-20Q-transfected HEK293 cells that were treated with different concentrations of BBR (0, 5, 25, 50, 100 mM). **(B)** Western blot analysis of Htt-transfected cells treated with or without BBR at different concentrations. Aggregated Htt in the stacking gel was detected by mEM48 antibody. **(C)** Densitometry analysis of the ratios of aggregated Htt to b-actin on western blots in (B). **(D)** Fluorescent microscopic images of Htt-120Qtransfected HEK293 cells that were treated with 50 mM BBR at 0 h, 12 h or 24 h posttransfection. **(E)** Cell-counting analysis of images obtained in (D) showing the percentage of aggregates relative to the total cells revealed by DAPI nuclear staining. **(F)** Western blotting of Htt-120Q transfected HEK293 cells treated with 50 mm BBR for different times showing aggregated Htt in the stacking gel. **(G)** Densitometry analysis of the ratios of mutant Htt to b-actin on western blots in (F).









Fig. 2 (Continued)



Figure 2. BBR increases autophagic activity in cultured cells. (A) Western blotting of LC3B in HEK293 cells transfected with or without Htt and treated with BBR (0, 5, 25, 50, or 100 mM). **(B)** Densitometry analysis of the ratios of LC3-I to LC3-II in above Western blots. **(C)** Western blotting of Htt-transfected HEK293 cells treated with or without 50 mM BBR or bafilomycin (BFA), an autophagy inhibitor. Antibody to P62, which decreases when autophagy activates, was used to confirm the altered activity of autophagy. **(D)** Densitometry analysis of the ratios of aggregated Htt or P62 to actin in Western blots in (C).









Fig. 3 (Continued)



D


Fig. 3 (Continued)



Fig. 3 (Continued)



Fig. 3 (Continued)



Figure 3. Oral administration of BBR ameliorates neurological symptoms in transgenic N171-82Q mice. (A, B) Rotarod test of motor coordination of N171-82Q transgenic mice and WT siblings, orally gavaged with 40 mg/kg BBR or vehicle daily. **(C, D)** Grip strength test on transgenic N171-82Q mice and WT siblings treated with BBR or vehicle. **(E)** Balance beam test on 18-week-old N171-82Q and WT mice that had been treated with BBR or vehicle. **(F)** Body weight of N171-82Q mice and WT siblings treated with or without BBR. **(G)** Survival curve for N171-82Q mice and WT siblings treated with BBR or vehicle. **(H)** The BBR-treated N171-82Q group survived 15 days longer than their untreated HD siblings. *p<0.05. **p<0.01. ***p<0.001, n=7 mice per group.







Fig. 4 (Continued)









Figure 4. Oral administration of BBR reduced mutant Htt aggregation and increased autophagy in transgenic N171-82Q mice. (A) Fluorescent immunohistostaining of mouse brain slices from transgenic N171-82Q HD mice and WT siblings, orally gavaged with 40 mg/kg BBR or vehicle daily. **(B)** Western blotting of the cortex samples of 3 mice per group (HD+BBR vs. HD+vehicle) showing mutant Htt aggregates in the stacking gel and P62. Anti-actin was used to show the internal control protein on western blot. **(C)** Densitometry analysis of above Western blots. The data are mean±SE (n=3). **(D)** Quantitative RT-PCR analysis of transgenic mutant Htt mRNA in the cortex of the BBR-treated or untreated N171-82Q mice. n=3 mice per group. Data are presented as mean CT±SEM. **(E)** Western blotting of WT mouse cortex samples (3-mouse pool per group) after the mice had been orally gavaged with 40 mg/kg BBR or vehicle daily for 24 weeks and sacrificed 4 h after the last BBR administration. **(F)** Densitometry analysis of Western blots in (E) showing the ratio of P62 to actin.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (NS036232, NS041669 and AG019206).

References:

- Landles C, Bates GP. Huntingtin and the molecular pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. Fourth in molecular medicine review series. EMBO Rep. 2004; 5: 958-963.
- Kremer B, Goldberg P, Andrew SE, Theilmann J, Telenius H, Zeisler J, Squitieri F, Lin B, Bassett A, Almqvist E et al. A worldwide study of the Huntington's disease mutation. The sensitivity and specificity of measuring CAG repeats. N Engl J Med. 1994; 330: 1401-1406.
- 3. Squitieri F, Frati L, Ciarmiello A, Lastoria S, Quarrell O. Juvenile Huntington's disease: does a dosage-effect pathogenic mechanism differ from the classical adult disease? Mech Ageing Dev. 2006;127: 208-212.
- 4. Harjes P, Wanker EE. The hunt for huntingtin function: interaction partners tell many different stories. Trends Biochem Sci. 2003;28: 425-433.
- 5. Li SH, Li XJ. Huntingtin-protein interactions and the pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. Trends Genet. 2004;20: 146-154.
- 6. Poon LH, Kang GA, Lee AJ. Role of tetrabenazine for Huntington's diseaseassociated chorea. Ann Pharmacother. 2010;44: 1080-1089.

- Margolis RL. Tetrabenazine, depression and suicide: good news. J Huntingtons Dis. 2014;3: 137-138.
- 8. Takase H, Yamamoto K, Ito K, Yumioka E. Pharmacological studies on antidiarrheal effects of berberine and geranii herba. Nihon Yakurigaku Zasshi. 1993;102: 101-112.
- Kong W, Wei J, Abidi P, Lin M, Inaba S, Li C, Wang Y, Wang Z, Si S, Pan H et al. Berberine is a novel cholesterol-lowering drug working through a unique mechanism distinct from statins. Nat Med. 2004;10: 1344-1351.
- 10. Iizuka N, Miyamoto K, Okita K, Tangoku A, Hayashi H, Yosino S, Abe T, Morioka T, Hazama S, Oka M. Inhibitory effect of Coptidis Rhizoma and berberine on the proliferation of human esophageal cancer cell lines. Cancer Lett. 2000;148: 19-25.
- 11. Hayashi K, Minoda K, Nagaoka Y, Hayashi T, Uesato S. Antiviral activity of berberine and related compounds against human cytomegalovirus. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2007;17: 1562-1564.
- 12. Zhang H, Wei J, Xue R, Wu JD, Zhao W, Wang ZZ, Wang SK, Zhou ZX, Song DQ, Wang YM et al. Berberine lowers blood glucose in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients through increasing insulin receptor expression. Metabolism. 2010;59: 285-292.
- 13. Jiang Q, Liu P, Wu X, Liu W, Shen X, Lan T, Xu S, Peng J, Xie X, Huang H.Berberine attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced extracelluar matrix

accumulation and inflammation in rat mesangial cells: involvement of NFkappaB signaling pathway. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2011;331: 34-40.

- 14. Dong H, Wang N, Zhao L, Lu F. Berberine in the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2012;2012: 591654.
- 15. Kim M, Shin MS, Lee JM, Cho HS, Kim CJ, Kim YJ, Choi HR, Jeon JW. Inhibitory Effects of Isoquinoline Alkaloid Berberine on Ischemia-Induced Apoptosis via Activation of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase/Protein Kinase B Signaling Pathway. Int Neurourol J. 2014;18: 115-125.
- 16. Kwon IH, Choi HS, Shin KS, Lee BK, Lee CK, Hwang BY, Lim SC, Lee MK. Effects of berberine on 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells and a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neurosci Lett. 2010;486: 29-33.
- 17. Shin KS, Choi HS, Zhao TT, Suh KH, Kwon IH, Choi SO, Lee MK. Neurotoxic effects of berberine on long-term L-DOPA administration in 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rat model of Parkinson's disease. Arch Pharm Res. 2013;36: 759-767.
- 18. Lan J, Dong F, Yan Z, Zheng W, Fan J, Sun G. Meta-analysis of the effect and safety of berberine in the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus, hyperlipemia and hypertension. J Ethnopharmacol. 2014 Dec 10. pii: S0378-8741(14)00871-X. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2014.09.049.

- 19. Wang X, Xing D, Wang W, Su H, Tao J, Du L. Pharmacokinetics of berberine in rat thalamus after intravenous administration of Coptidis rhizoma extract. Am J Chin Med. 2005;33: 935-943.
- 20. Zhu F, Qian C. Berberine chloride can ameliorate the spatial memory impairment and increase the expression of interleukin-1beta and inducible nitric oxide synthase in the rat model of Alzheimer's disease. BMC Neurosci. 2006;7: 78.
- 21. Panahi N, Mahmoudian M, Mortazavi P, Hashjin GS. Effects of berberine on beta-secretase activity in a rabbit model of Alzheimer's disease. Arch Med Sci. 2013;9: 146-150.
- 22. Asai M, Iwata N, Yoshikawa A, Aizaki Y, Ishiura S, Saido TC, Maruyama K. Berberine alters the processing of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein to decrease Abeta secretion. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;352: 498-502.
- 23. Durairajan SS, Liu LF, Lu JH, Chen LL, Yuan Q, Chung SK, Huang L, Li XS, Huang JD, Li M. Berberine ameliorates beta-amyloid pathology, gliosis, and cognitive impairment in an Alzheimer's disease transgenic mouse model. Neurobiol Aging. 2012;33: 2903-2919.
- 24. Wang CE, Zhou H, McGuire JR, Cerullo V, Lee B, Li SH, Li XJ. Suppression of neuropil aggregates and neurological symptoms by an intracellular antibody implicates the cytoplasmic toxicity of mutant huntingtin. J Cell Biol. 2008;181: 803-816.

- 25. Li X, Wang CE, Huang S, Xu X, Li XJ, Li H, Li S. Inhibiting the ubiquitinproteasome system leads to preferential accumulation of toxic N-terminal mutant huntingtin fragments. Hum Mol Genet. 2010;19: 2445-2455.
- 26. Peng PL, Kuo WH, Tseng HC, Chou FP. Synergistic tumor-killing effect of radiation and berberine combined treatment in lung cancer: the contribution of autophagic cell death. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70: 529-542.
- 27. Wang N, Feng Y, Zhu M, Tsang CM, Man K, Tong Y, Tsao SW. Berberine induces autophagic cell death and mitochondrial apoptosis in liver cancer cells: the cellular mechanism. J Cell Biochem. 2010;111: 1426-1436.
- 28. Schilling G, Becher MW, Sharp AH, Jinnah HA, Duan K, Kotzuk JA, Slunt HH, Ratovitski T, Cooper JK, Jenkins NA et al. Intranuclear inclusions and neuritic aggregates in transgenic mice expressing a mutant N-terminal fragment of huntingtin. Hum Mol Genet. 1999;8: 397-407.
- 29. Weydt P, Pineda VV, Torrence AE, Libby RT, Satterfield TF, Lazarowski ER, Gilbert ML, Morton GJ, Bammler TK, Strand AD et al. Thermoregulatory and metabolic defects in Huntington's disease transgenic mice implicate PGC-1alpha in Huntington's disease neurodegeneration. Cell Metab. 2006;4: 349-362.
- 30. Ho DJ, Calingasan NY, Wille E, Dumont M, Beal MF. Resveratrol protects against peripheral deficits in a mouse model of Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol. 2010;225: 74-84.

- 31. Munoz-Sanjuan I, Bates GP. The importance of integrating basic and clinical research toward the development of new therapies for Huntington disease. J Clin Invest. 2011;121: 476-483.
- 32. Ross CA, Aylward EH, Wild EJ, Langbehn DR, Long JD, Warner JH, Scahill RI, Leavitt BR, Stout JC, Paulsen JS et al. Huntington disease: natural history, biomarkers and prospects for therapeutics. Nat Rev Neurol. 2014;10: 204-216.
- 33. Thomas EA, Coppola G, Desplats PA, Tang B, Soragni E, Burnett R, Gao F, Fitzgerald KM, Borok JF, Herman D et al. The HDAC inhibitor 4b ameliorates the disease phenotype and transcriptional abnormalities in Huntington's disease transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105: 15564-15569.
- 34. Qiu Z, Norflus F, Singh B, Swindell MK, Buzescu R, Bejarano M, Chopra R, Zucker B, Benn CL, DiRocco DP et al. Sp1 is up-regulated in cellular and transgenic models of Huntington disease, and its reduction is neuroprotective. J Biol Chem. 2006;281: 16672-16680.
- 35. Quintanilla RA, Jin YN, Fuenzalida K, Bronfman M, Johnson GV. Rosiglitazone treatment prevents mitochondrial dysfunction in mutant huntingtin-expressing cells: possible role of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma (PPARgamma) in the pathogenesis of Huntington disease. J Biol Chem. 2008;283: 25628-25637.
- 36. Gharami K, Xie Y, An JJ, Tonegawa S, Xu B. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor over-expression in the forebrain ameliorates Huntington's disease phenotypes in mice. J Neurochem. 2008;105: 369-379.

- 37. Dudek NL, Dai Y, Muma NA. Neuroprotective effects of calmodulin peptide 76121aa: disruption of calmodulin binding to mutant huntingtin. Brain Pathol.
 2010;20: 176-189.
- 38. Soto C. Unfolding the role of protein misfolding in neurodegenerative diseases.Nat Rev Neurosci. 2003;4: 49-60.
- 39. Cohen FE, Kelly JW. Therapeutic approaches to protein-misfolding diseases. Nature. 2003;426: 905-909.
- 40. Ji HF, & Shen, L. Berberine: a potential multipotent natural product to combat Alzheimer's disease. Molecules. 2011;16(8): 6732-6740.
- 41. Chen JH, Huang SM, Tan TW, Lin HY, Chen PY, Yeh WL, ... & Lu DY. Berberine induces heme oxygenase-1 up-regulation through phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/AKT and NF-E2-related factor-2 signaling pathway in astrocytes. International immunopharmacology. 2012;12(1), 94-100.
- 42. Lu SS, Yu YL, Zhu HJ, Liu XD, Liu L, Liu YW, ... & Wang GJ. Berberine promotes glucagon-like peptide-1 (7–36) amide secretion in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Journal of Endocrinology. 2009;200(2), 159-165.
- 43. Yu Y, Liu L, Wang X, Liu X, Liu X, Xie L, & Wang G. Modulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 release by berberine: in vivo and in vitro studies. Biochemical pharmacology. 2010;79(7), 1000-1006.
- 44. Zhang X, Zhang X, Wang C, Li Y, Dong L, Cui L, ... & Zhao K. Neuroprotection of early and short-time applying berberine in the acute phase of cerebral ischemia:

up-regulated pAkt, pGSK and pCREB, down-regulated NF-κB expression, ameliorated BBB permeability. Brain research. 2012;1459, 61-70.

- 45. Kurth, J. H., Kurth, M. C., Poduslo, S. E., & Schwankhaus, J. D. "Association of a monoamine oxidase B allele with Parkinson's disease." Annals of neurology. 1993; 33(4): 368-372.
- 46. Yang, Lei, Heng-Yi He, and Xue-Jun Zhang. "Increased expression of intranuclear AChE involved in apoptosis of SK-N-SH cells." Neuroscience research. 2002; 42(4): 261-268.
- 47. de Vries, H. E., Witte, M., Hondius, D., Rozemuller, A. J., Drukarch, B., Hoozemans, J., & van Horssen, J."Nrf2-induced antioxidant protection: a promising target to counteract ROS-mediated damage in neurodegenerative disease?" Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2008; 45(10): 1375-1383.
- 48. Perry, T., Holloway, H. W., Weerasuriya, A., Mouton, P. R., Duffy, K., Mattison, J. A., & Greig, N. H. "Evidence of GLP-1-mediated neuroprotection in an animal model of pyridoxine-induced peripheral sensory neuropathy." Experimental neurology. 2007; 203(2): 293-301.
- 49. Li, Y., Perry, T., Kindy, M. S., Harvey, B. K., Tweedie, D., Holloway, H. W., ... & Greig, N. H. "GLP-1 receptor stimulation preserves primary cortical and dopaminergic neurons in cellular and rodent models of stroke and Parkinsonism." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2009; 106(4): 1285-1290.

- 50. Kennedy, S. G., Kandel, E. S., Cross, T. K., & Hay, N." Akt/Protein kinase B inhibits cell death by preventing the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria." Molecular and cellular biology. 1999; 19(8): 5800-5810.
- 51. Dragunow, Mike. "CREB and neurodegeneration." Frontiers in bioscience: a journal and virtual library. 2004; 9: 100-103.

Chapter IV:

Final Discussion

4.1 Summary

In this study, we showed that BBR, a botanically-derived small molecule, has the ability to reduce mHtt aggregation and accumulation both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In HEK-293 transfected HD cellular models, BBR acted in a dose-dependent manner to reduce mHtt aggregates (up to 100uM). BBR also acted in a time-dependent manner; a fixed concentration of BBR produced greater aggregate-reduction results when administered closer to transfection time, though pronounced results could still be seen when administered 12 hours past. Mechanistic studies showed that autophagic flux corresponded inversely to mHtt aggregation levels when treated with varying amounts of BBR. Also, inhibition of autophagy antagonized the ability of BBR to reduce mHtt aggregation, implicating autophagic increase as a facilitator in this pathway.

In the N171 82Q transgenic HD mouse model, we found that daily oral administration of 40mg/kg BBR starting from 1 month of age significantly reduced the rate of decline in motor coordination, balance, and strength as compared to untreated littermates. Furthermore, lifespan was increased by about 10%, though statistically, the difference was considered highly suggestive, but not strictly significant (P=0.052). Immunohistological studies revealed that BBR-treated mice showed an average reduction in mHtt aggregation of 48.77% over untreated siblings. Autophagic flux was also increased in BBR-treated mice, though it was more apparent in the WT controls due to more precisely controlled times of sacrifice (as mutant mice were sacrificed according to health conditions in line with previously established end points). RT-PCR

revealed that between the treated and untreated N171 82Q mouse groups, there was no significant difference in mHtt expression levels (99.89% similarity, SE=7.64%), ruling out uneven expression levels leading to the obtained results.

These results suggest a model in which BBR up-regulates autophagy, which may enhance the rate of degradation of misfolded, fragmented, and aggregated mHtt protein particles, thus decreasing the incorporation of free particles into the aggregates while eliminating some aggregates outright (Fig. 4-1). Indeed, it seems that BBR has untapped potential when it comes to protection again neurological disease, particularly against HD. Its effectiveness at reducing the hallmark mHtt aggregate accumulations of HD models and its excellent clinical safety (no known LD50 when taken orally) merit further research into the possibilities of clinical use of BBR in HD therapy. Despite all the questions that still remain pertaining to BBR's optimum dosage and frequency as well as its in-depth mechanism, there is compelling need to quickly report the potential benefits to translational medicine that were discovered in this study.

4.2 Interpretation and significance of results

BBR successfully diminished mHtt aggregate accumulation in both a dose and time-dependent manner. In transfected HEK-293 cells, the treatment concentration was taken as high as 100uM, with increasing effect as the dosage increased. The concentration was not taken further because normally, the cells would be grown for 48 hours post transfection and at higher concentrations, oftentimes, the entire plate of cells would not survive for 48 hours. The reason is not understood but could be due to BBR's alkaline properties changing the pH of the medium. BBR is not known to be toxic in humans when ingested even in great quantities, however, when taken intravenously, the LD50 is 9.0386 mg/kg in mice. This may be due to the body's poor ability to absorb orally-taken BBR as a limiting factor to the drug's bioavailability when taken orally, which serves as a built-in safety mechanism. Despite this, how a large amount of BBR is harmful when presented to cells either *in vitro* or *in vivo* is not fully understood.

That even the highest tested concentration (100uM) BBR did not reduce htt expression levels in HD20Q-GFP-transfected cells showed two things. First, because both HD20Q-GFP and HD120Q-GFP were expressed under the same cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter, BBR did not achieve its mHtt aggregate-lowering effects by blocking the transcription of transfected htt because it did not lower the expression of nonpathogenic htt. Secondly, it shows that the autophagic pathway that was activated was one that preferentially clears mutant proteins.

The time trial assay was of particular importance in this study because it allowed us to see how quickly the treatment must be administered in order to be effective. In the final application to patients, it would be unrealistic to assume that a treatment could be undertaken long before HD symptoms manifested. Therefore, it is paramount that BBR have some effect even if treatment were to be delayed as expected in patients. On the bio-molecular front, mHtt forms unstable aggregates early on. In this stage, soluble mHtt particles freely associate and dissociate, building up very slowly. However, when the aggregates reach a critical stage, they become stable, at which point association is largely unchanged; by then, the ability to dissociate drops dramatically, causing aggregates to enlarge at a much faster rate. Typically, symptoms do not arise until this stage has arrived, making it difficult to catch HD before. Therefore, since mHtt aggregates accumulate in this manner, it is important to know if BBR can still facilitate their clearance even after mHtt aggregates have gotten a foothold.

The mice of the untreated N171 82Q group were sacrificed (upon reaching endpoint for each mouse) at an average of 140.86 days and the treated mutant brethren were sacrificed at an average of 154.86 days; the difference in lifespan was roughly 10%. Since the death of N171 82Q mice can result from multiple and systemic failures in CNS and peripheral function, the mild increase in lifespan does suggest that protective effect of BBR is mainly to improve motor function or neuronal function that regulate motor activities.

When comparing performance between the groups across different tests, it is apparent that the difference in performance between the treated and untreated mutant groups became significant much earlier in the motor coordination test (rotarod) than it did in the strength test (grip strength apparatus). This in concurrent with the general assumption that in neurodegenerative diseases such as HD, neurological damage precedes muscular atrophy. It is also important to note that until the end of the experiment when mice were near their endpoints, the BBR-treated mutant group exhibited lower average bodyweight than their untreated counterparts. This seems to suggest that BBR does not protect against physical atrophy, which is a symptom of HD mostly towards the advanced phases of disease. However, since the grip strength test suggested reduction in muscular atrophy, there seems to be some discrepancy. This may be explained by the fact that since BBR is a cholesterol and blood glucose-lowering agent, it also exhibits weight loss potential. As such, BBR may have caused fat loss in the treated mice while preventing muscular atrophy, which would explain why the treated group exhibited greater grip strength despite lower bodyweight for most of the trial. Thus, in effect, BBR's fat loss effect may have masked its protective effects against physical atrophy in this study.

5.3 Future studies

Upon the foundation created with the base knowledge that BBR is able to reduce mHtt aggregate accumulation, many more questions arise and much more knowledge needs to be obtained. Some of these directions include finding the detailed biochemical pathway(s) that allow(s) BBR to up-regulate autophagic activity, finding other ways in which BBR may modify HD progression, determining the optimum treatment regiment using BBR for HD, using BBR as a chemical probe to gain better understanding to the inner workings and factors of HD.

The proposed possible mechanisms that facilitate BBR's reduction of mHtt aggregation represent only a small fraction of what may be the underlying pathways. We know TFEB is a master regulator of autophagic flux and we know, from multiple different accounts pieced together, that BBR can phosphorylate ERK, which can upregulate TFEB [84, 141-144]. We also believe that since BBR can up-regulate SIRT-1, SIRT1 can up-regulate PGC1- α , and PGC1- α can cause an increase in TFEB activity [145-

150], that represents a secondary pathway through which BBR can affect autophagy. However, both of these hypotheses have never been tested in their entirety as functioning chains. In order to test these two possible pathways, the proteins that form the steps of the path must be analyzed for up-regulation (or increase in phosphorylated form) after BBR administration. Then, blocking the expression of any of them should hinder their supposed downstream targets and ultimately render ineffective BBR's ability to elicit autophagic increase. However, this may be difficult to detect, as a single blocked pathway may result in obstruction of only a fraction of the total effect, making precise autophagic quantification paramount to determining the weight of each pathway. This is further mired by the possibility of certain pathways being up-regulated to compensate for loss experienced in other pathways. Despite these efforts, these hypothesized pathways represent only a very small scope of possibilities, limited by the protein-to-protein interactions that have already been reported. In order to break free of that limit and to include the possible discovery of pathways that were completely unknown, microarrays or RNA sequencing must be employed to find all (or many) of the proteins that were up-regulated by uptake of BBR. Although this method would open up many leads as to the proteins that BBR effects or works through, the difficulty will inevitably arise from screening all of them to determine what is relevant to HD and/or neurodegeneration. This method, however, has a great range of additional benefits as well. By RNA sequencing, in addition to finding more possible ways that BBR can upregulate autophagy, we can also see changes in expression that represent other ways through which BBR may regulate HD that are independent of the autophagic pathway (if there are any). If the BBR-treated HD sample group can be compared with a normal sample pool and then an untreated HD sample pool, we can determine if BBR corrected or ameliorated any imbalances seen in the untreated HD group. Among those found, the genes known to be involved in autophagic regulation could reveal other pathways through which BBR may affect autophagic flux. The favorably altered expression of non-autophagy-related genes would give us some clues and leads into the other ways that BBR could modify HD independently from the autophagy pathway. The findings may be of consequence even to the treatment of other neurodegenerative diseases as well.

Through these studies, BBR may also allow us to gain a better understanding of HD as a disease. Since it is known that BBR can abate progression of HD, understanding all the channels through which BBR exerts its effects could allow us to use BBR as a chemical probe to understand which of these corrections led to retardation of HD progression. Simply knowing all of the imbalances that HD sample pools exhibit in comparison to their WT counterparts is not enough to truly gain a better understanding of disease mechanism since it is unclear which of these imbalances create an HD-related problem and which are simply a (benign) by-product. However, if we see improvement when BBR counteracts certain imbalances, we flag them for further research to discover their part in HD in detail.

Given the dose dependency of BRR *in vitro*, it is likely that the effects of BBR on multiple cellular functions *in vivo* also depend on its concentrations. It is imperative to determine the optimal concentration of BBR *in vivo* that is specific to up-regulation of

120

autophagic function involved in removing misfolded proteins such as mHtt. Determination of such an optimal concentration or drug treatment regiment may also be helpful for applying BBR to other neurodegenerative diseases caused by misfolded proteins.

Durairajan's work previously showed that increasing BBR levels beyond a certain point in vivo produced a counter effect and becoming less productive than a limited treatment. In the early phases of this study, two smaller experiments were conducted with N171 82Q mice using higher concentrations of BBR (150 and 250mg/kg, data not shown) and both studies resulted in less aggressive tempering of HD symptoms than the data shown (treatment using 40mg/kg BBR). However, we have yet to explore the effectiveness of BBR in even lower dosages such as 20mg/kg against HD models. Without reaching a lower tipping point when BBR begins to lose effect, we still lack an optimal range of efficiency in terms of dosage, which is crucial to better-understanding BBR's ability to counteract HD progression and developing a refined therapeutic regiment. A second issue is the administration frequency; as we saw in our *in vivo* P62 autophagy Western blots, the effect of BBR (on autophagy) may wear thin near the end of the 24 hour time-frame before the next gavage (as seen in HD mice), whereas the effect was very pronounced 4 hours after gavage (as seen in WT mice). Therefore, in order to produce more consistent and uniform effects on physiology, dosage frequency of less than 24 hours may be more effective. Further studies could evaluate the efficacy of a therapeutic regiment of BBR using concentrations less than 40mg/kg per day split between 2 feedings, 12 hours apart or even 3 feedings, 8 hours apart. Such studies on

refining therapeutic regiment, as well as possible tests in animal models with more similarity to humans can take BBR closer to clinical trials and inception into medicine as an agent against HD and possibly other neurodegenerative diseases.

4.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, using HD cellular and animal models, we found that BBR can activate the autophagic pathway to remove mHtt and reduce aggregate Htt-mediated neurological phenotypes in a HD mouse model. Although BBR is likely to act on multiple cellular pathways to elicit its protective effects, its safety and ability to pass through the blood-brain barrier makes it an ideal candidate for further investigation. Its novel function in enhancing the clearance of mHtt via autophagic activation is highly promising to translational medicine. The findings of this study and others suggest that BBR possesses versatile functions, which may depend on its dosage and target cell type. Deeper understanding of BBR's mechanisms will help us verify its potential for treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.





Fig. 4-1 BBR up-regulates autophagic activity, resulting in an increased natural clearance of mHtt.

Theoretical model of BBR's role in HD as up-regulator of autophagic breakdown of all forms of mHtt

References

- 1. Landles, Christian, and Gillian P. Bates. "Huntingtin and the molecular pathogenesis of Huntington's disease." *EMBO reports* 5.10 (2004): 958-963.
- Kremer, Berry, et al. "A worldwide study of the Huntington's disease mutation: the sensitivity and specificity of measuring CAG repeats." *New England Journal of Medicine* 330.20 (1994): 1401-1406.
- 3. Squitieri, Ferdinando, et al. "Juvenile Huntington's disease: does a dosage-effect pathogenic mechanism differ from the classical adult disease?." *Mechanisms of ageing and development* 127.2 (2006): 208-212.
- Pringsheim, Tamara, et al. "The incidence and prevalence of Huntington's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis." *Movement Disorders* 27.9 (2012): 1083-1091.
- Li, Shi-Hua, and Xiao-Jiang Li. "Aggregation of N-terminal huntingtin is dependent on the length of its glutamine repeats." *Human molecular genetics* 7.5 (1998): 777-782.
- Harjes, Phoebe, and Erich E. Wanker. "The hunt for huntingtin function: interaction partners tell many different stories." *Trends in biochemical sciences* 28.8 (2003): 425-433.
- Li, Shi-Hua, and Xiao-Jiang Li. "Huntingtin–protein interactions and the pathogenesis of Huntington's disease." *TRENDS in Genetics* 20.3 (2004): 146-154.

- Colby, David W., et al. "Potent inhibition of huntingtin aggregation and cytotoxicity by a disulfide bond-free single-domain intracellular antibody." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101.51 (2004): 17616-17621.
- Caviston, Juliane P., and Erika LF Holzbaur. "Huntingtin as an essential integrator of intracellular vesicular trafficking." *Trends in cell biology* 19.4 (2009): 147-155.
- 10. DiFiglia, Marian, et al. "Huntingtin is a cytoplasmic protein associated with vesicles in human and rat brain neurons." *Neuron* 14.5 (1995): 1075-1081.
- 11. Velier, James, et al. "Wild-type and mutant huntingtins function in vesicle trafficking in the secretory and endocytic pathways." *Experimental neurology* 152.1 (1998): 34-40.
- 12. Duyao, Mabel P., et al. "Inactivation of the mouse Huntington's disease gene homolog Hdh." *Science* 269.5222 (1995): 407-410.
- 13. Zeitlin, Scott, et al. "Increased apoptosis and early embryonic lethality in mice nullizygous for the Huntington's disease gene homologue." *Nature genetics* 11.2 (1995): 155-163.
- 14. Nasir, Jamal, et al. "Targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene results in embryonic lethality and behavioral and morphological changes in heterozygotes." *Cell* 81.5 (1995): 811-823.

- 15. Poon, Linda H., Gail A. Kang, and Audrey J. Lee. "Role of tetrabenazine for Huntington's disease–associated chorea." *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 44.6 (2010): 1080-1089.
- 16. Margolis, Russell L. "Tetrabenazine, depression and suicide: good news." *Journal of Huntington's disease* 3.2 (2014): 137-138.
- 17. Gimenez-Roldan, S., and D. Mateo. [Huntington disease: tetrabenazine compared to haloperidol in the reduction of involuntary movements." *Neurologia* (*Barcelona, Spain*) 4.8 (1989): 282-287.
- Barr, A. N., et al. "Serum haloperidol concentration and choreiform movements in Huntington's disease." *Neurology* 38.1 (1988): 84-84.
- 19. Leonard, D. P., et al. "A double blind trial of lithium carbonate and haloperidol in Huntington's chorea." *Australasian Psychiatry* 9.2 (1975): 115-118.
- 20. Reilmann, Ralf, et al. "Safety and tolerability of selisistat for the treatment of Huntington's disease: results from a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled phase II trial (S47. 004)." *Neurology* 82.10 Supplement (2014): S47-004.
- 21. Süssmuth, S. D., et al. "Q02 A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase IB pharmacodynamic study with selisistat (SEN0014196) in HD patients." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 83.Suppl 1 (2012): A55-A55.
- 22. Westerberg, Goran, et al. "Safety, Pharmacokinetics, Pharmacogenomics and QT Concentration Effect Modelling of the SirT1 Inhibitor Selisistat in Healthy Volunteers." *British journal of clinical pharmacology* (2014).

- 23. Haider, S. S., et al. "From Biology To The Bedside-Sirtuins As Targets For Disease Modification In Huntington's Disease: Selisistat Preclinical Data And Preliminary Phase I Results." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 83.Suppl 2 (2012): A33-A34.
- 24. Reilmann, R., et al. "No2 Safety And Tolerability Of Selisistat For The Treatment Of Huntington's Disease: Results From A Randomised, Double-blind, Placebocontrolled Phase Ii Trial." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 85.Suppl 1 (2014): A102-A102.
- 25. Süssmuth, Sigurd D., et al. "An Exploratory Double blind, Randomised Clinical Trial with Selisistat, a SirT1 Inhibitor, in Patients with Huntington's Disease." *British journal of clinical pharmacology* (2014).
- 26. Haider, S., et al. "Q01 SIRT 1 mediated modulation of circulating cytokines in huntington's disease-pharmacodynamics results from phase 1B study of selisistat—A SIRT 1 inhibitor." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 83.Suppl 1 (2012): A54-A55.
- 27. Johanssen, Timothy, et al. "PBT2 inhibits glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in neurons through metal-mediated preconditioning." *Neurobiology of disease* (2015).
- 28. Cherny, Robert A., et al. "PBT2 reduces toxicity in a C. elegans model of polyQ aggregation and extends lifespan, reduces striatal atrophy and improves motor performance in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease." *Journal of Huntington's disease* 1.2 (2012): 211-219.

- 29. Huntington Study Group Reach2HD Investigators. "Safety, tolerability, and efficacy of PBT2 in Huntington's disease: a phase 2, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial." *The Lancet Neurology* 14.1 (2015): 39-47.
- 30. Kulkarni, Pushkar, and Uday Saxena. "Investigational drugs for the management of Huntington's disease: are we there yet?." *Expert opinion on investigational drugs* 23.12 (2014): 1595-1603.
- 31. Hickey, M. A., and M. F. Chesselet. "The use of transgenic and knock-in mice to study Huntington's disease." *Cytogenetic and genome research* 100.1-4 (2002): 276-286.
- 32. Hickey, M. A., et al. "Early behavioral deficits in R6/2 mice suitable for use in preclinical drug testing." *Neurobiology of disease* 20.1 (2005): 1-11.
- 33. Hockly, Emma, et al. "Environmental enrichment slows disease progression in R6/2 Huntington's disease mice." *Annals of neurology* 51.2 (2002): 235-242.
- 34. Schilling, Gabriele, et al. "Intranuclear inclusions and neuritic aggregates in transgenic mice expressing a mutant N-terminal fragment of huntingtin." *Human molecular genetics* 8.3 (1999): 397-407.
- 35. Li, He, et al. "Huntingtin aggregate-associated axonal degeneration is an early pathological event in Huntington's disease mice." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 21.21 (2001): 8473-8481.
- 36. Luong, Tinh N., et al. "Assessment of motor balance and coordination in mice using the balance beam." *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE* 49 (2011).

- 37. Castagné, Vincent, et al. "Rodent models of depression: forced swim and tail suspension behavioral despair tests in rats and mice." *Current protocols in neuroscience* (2011): 8-10.
- 38. Walsh, Roger N., and Robert A. Cummins. "The open-field test: A critical review." *Psychological bulletin* 83.3 (1976): 482.
- 39. Carola, Valeria, et al. "Evaluation of the elevated plus-maze and open-field tests for the assessment of anxiety-related behaviour in inbred mice." *Behavioural brain research* 134.1 (2002): 49-57.
- 40. Prut, Laetitia, and Catherine Belzung. "The open field as a paradigm to measure the effects of drugs on anxiety-like behaviors: a review." *European journal of pharmacology* 463.1 (2003): 3-33.
- 41. HU, Jingqing, Zehuai WEN, and Shilong LAI. "A Preliminary Study on the Memory Attribution and Methodology in Morris Water Maze Test [J]." *Journal Of Guangzhou University Of Traditional Chinese Medicine* 2 (2000).
- 42. Metz, Gerlinde A., and Ian Q. Whishaw. "Cortical and subcortical lesions impair skilled walking in the ladder rung walking test: a new task to evaluate fore-and hindlimb stepping, placing, and co-ordination." *Journal of neuroscience methods* 115.2 (2002): 169-179.
- 43. HAMM, ROBERT J., et al. "The rotarod test: an evaluation of its effectiveness in assessing motor deficits following traumatic brain injury." *Journal of neurotrauma* 11.2 (1994): 187-196.

- 44. Shiotsuki, Hiromi, et al. "A rotarod test for evaluation of motor skill learning." *Journal of neuroscience methods* 189.2 (2010): 180-185.
- 45. Monville, Christelle, Eduardo M. Torres, and Stephen B. Dunnett. "Comparison of incremental and accelerating protocols of the rotarod test for the assessment of motor deficits in the 6-OHDA model." *Journal of neuroscience methods* 158.2 (2006): 219-223.
- 46. Marston, Fiona AO, and Donna L. Hartley. "[20] Solubilization of protein aggregates." *Methods in enzymology* 182 (1990): 264-276.
- 47. Mende-Mueller, Liane M., et al. "Tissue-specific proteolysis of Huntingtin (htt) in human brain: evidence of enhanced levels of N-and C-terminal htt fragments in Huntington's disease striatum." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 21.6 (2001): 1830-1837.
- 48. Luthi-Carter, Ruth, et al. "Decreased expression of striatal signaling genes in a mouse model of Huntington's disease." *Human molecular genetics* 9.9 (2000): 1259-1271.
- 49. Rubinsztein, David C., et al. "Phenotypic characterization of individuals with 30– 40 CAG repeats in the Huntington disease (HD) gene reveals HD cases with 36 repeats and apparently normal elderly individuals with 36–39 repeats." *American journal of human genetics* 59.1 (1996): 16.
- 50. Soto, Claudio. "Unfolding the role of protein misfolding in neurodegenerative diseases." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 4.1 (2003): 49-60.
- 51. Cooper, Jillian K., et al. "Truncated N-terminal fragments of huntingtin with expanded glutamine repeats form nuclear and cytoplasmic aggregates in cell culture." *Human molecular genetics* 7.5 (1998): 783-790.
- 52. Landles, Christian, et al. "Proteolysis of mutant huntingtin produces an exon 1 fragment that accumulates as an aggregated protein in neuronal nuclei in Huntington disease." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285.12 (2010): 8808-8823.
- 53. Cooper, Jillian K., et al. "Truncated N-terminal fragments of huntingtin with expanded glutamine repeats form nuclear and cytoplasmic aggregates in cell culture." *Human molecular genetics* 7.5 (1998): 783-790.
- 54. Lunkes, Astrid, et al. "Proteases acting on mutant huntingtin generate cleaved products that differentially build up cytoplasmic and nuclear inclusions." *Molecular cell* 10.2 (2002): 259-269.
- 55. Li, Shi-Hua, and Xiao-Jiang Li. "Huntingtin–protein interactions and the pathogenesis of Huntington's disease." *TRENDS in Genetics* 20.3 (2004): 146-154.
- 56. Brundin, Patrik, Ronald Melki, and Ron Kopito. "Prion-like transmission of protein aggregates in neurodegenerative diseases." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 11.4 (2010): 301-307.
- 57. Lee, Wyan-Ching Mimi, Motojiro Yoshihara, and J. Troy Littleton. "Cytoplasmic aggregates trap polyglutamine-containing proteins and block axonal transport in

a Drosophila model of Huntington's disease." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101.9 (2004): 3224-3229.

- 58. Nucifora, Frederick C., et al. "Interference by huntingtin and atrophin-1 with cbpmediated transcription leading to cellular toxicity." *Science* 291.5512 (2001): 2423-2428.
- 59. Huang, C. Chris, et al. "Amyloid formation by mutant huntingtin: threshold, progressivity and recruitment of normal polyglutamine proteins." *Somatic cell and molecular genetics* 24.4 (1998): 217-233.
- 60. Borlongan, C. V., et al. "Free radical damage and oxidative stress in Huntington's disease." *The Journal of the Florida Medical Association* 83.5 (1996): 335-341.
- 61. Stack, Edward C., Wayne R. Matson, and Robert J. Ferrante. "Evidence of oxidant damage in Huntington's disease: translational strategies using antioxidants." *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1147.1 (2008): 79-92.
- 62. Jisun, Lee, Giordano Samantha, and Zhang Jianhua. "Autophagy, mitochondria and oxidative stress: cross-talk and redox signalling." *Biochemical Journal* 441.2 (2012): 523-540.
- 63. Haas, Arthur L., et al. "Ubiquitin-activating enzyme. Mechanism and role in protein-ubiquitin conjugation." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 257.5 (1982): 2543-2548.
- 64. Thrower, Julia S., et al. "Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal." *The EMBO journal* 19.1 (2000): 94-102.

- 65. Risseeuw, Eddy P., et al. "Protein interaction analysis of SCF ubiquitin E3 ligase subunits from Arabidopsis." *The Plant Journal* 34.6 (2003): 753-767.
- 66. Venkatraman, Prasanna, et al. "Eukaryotic proteasomes cannot digest polyglutamine sequences and release them during degradation of polyglutaminecontaining proteins." *Molecular cell* 14.1 (2004): 95-104.
- 67. Holmberg, Carina I., et al. "Inefficient degradation of truncated polyglutamine proteins by the proteasome." *The EMBO journal* 23.21 (2004): 4307-4318.
- 68. Levine, Beth, Noboru Mizushima, and Herbert W. Virgin. "Autophagy in immunity and inflammation." *Nature* 469.7330 (2011): 323-335.
- 69. Yang, Zhifen, and Daniel J. Klionsky. "Eaten alive: a history of macroautophagy." *Nature cell biology* 12.9 (2010): 814-822.
- 70. Mijaljica, Dalibor, Mark Prescott, and Rodney J. Devenish. "Microautophagy in mammalian cells: revisiting a 40-year-old conundrum." *Autophagy* 7.7 (2011): 673-682.
- 71. Kaushik, Susmita, and Ana Maria Cuervo. "Chaperone-mediated autophagy: a unique way to enter the lysosome world." *Trends in cell biology* 22.8 (2012): 407-417.
- 72. Novoselova, Tatiana V., et al. "Treatment with extracellular HSP70/HSC70 protein can reduce polyglutamine toxicity and aggregation." *Journal of neurochemistry* 94.3 (2005): 597-606.

- 73. Wacker, Jennifer L., et al. "Loss of Hsp70 exacerbates pathogenesis but not levels of fibrillar aggregates in a mouse model of Huntington's disease." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 29.28 (2009): 9104-9114.
- 74. Qi, Lin, and Xing-Ding Zhang. "Role of chaperone-mediated autophagy in degrading Huntington's disease-associated huntingtin protein." *Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica* (2013): gmt133.
- 75. Ding, Wen-Xing, et al. "Linking of autophagy to ubiquitin-proteasome system is important for the regulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress and cell viability." *The American journal of pathology* 171.2 (2007): 513-524.
- 76. Korolchuk, Viktor I., Fiona M. Menzies, and David C. Rubinsztein. "Mechanisms of cross-talk between the ubiquitin-proteasome and autophagy-lysosome systems." *FEBS letters* 584.7 (2010): 1393-1398.
- 77. Kraft, Claudine, Matthias Peter, and Kay Hofmann. "Selective autophagy: ubiquitin-mediated recognition and beyond." *Nature cell biology* 12.9 (2010): 836-841.
- 78. Pandey, Udai Bhan, et al. "HDAC6 rescues neurodegeneration and provides an essential link between autophagy and the UPS." *Nature* 447.7146 (2007): 860-864.
- 79. Ding, Wen-Xing, et al. "Linking of autophagy to ubiquitin-proteasome system is important for the regulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress and cell viability." *The American journal of pathology* 171.2 (2007): 513-524.

- 80. Iwata, Atsushi, et al. "HDAC6 and microtubules are required for autophagic degradation of aggregated huntingtin." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280.48 (2005): 40282-40292.
- 81. Shideman, F. E. "A review of the pharmacology and therapeutics of Hydrastis and its alkaloids, hydrastine, berberine, and canadine." *Comm Nat Form Bull* 18.102 (1950): 3-19.
- 82. Takase, H., et al. "[Pharmacological studies on antidiarrheal effects of berberine and geranii herba]." *Nihon yakurigaku zasshi. Folia pharmacologica Japonica* 102.2 (1993): 101-112.
- 83. Kheir, Michael M., et al. "Acute toxicity of berberine and its correlation with the blood concentration in mice." *Food and chemical toxicology* 48.4 (2010): 1105-1110.
- 84. Kong, Weijia, et al. "Berberine is a novel cholesterol-lowering drug working through a unique mechanism distinct from statins." *Nature medicine* 10.12 (2004): 1344-1351.
- 85. Panahi, Negar, et al. "Experimental research Effects of berberine on β -secretase activity in a rabbit model of Alzheimer's disease." (2013).
- 86. Asai, Masashi, et al. "Berberine alters the processing of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein to decrease Aβ secretion." *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 352.2 (2007): 498-502.

- 87. Durairajan, Siva Sundara Kumar, et al. "Berberine ameliorates β-amyloid pathology, gliosis, and cognitive impairment in an Alzheimer's disease transgenic mouse model." *Neurobiology of aging* 33.12 (2012): 2903-2919.
- 88. Choi, Jae Sue. "Anti-Alzheimer and antioxidant activities of Coptidis Rhizoma alkaloids." *Biol Pharm Bull* 32 (2009): 1433-1438.
- 89. Castillo, J., et al. "LED fluorescence spectroscopy for direct determination of monoamine oxidase B inactivation." *Analytical biochemistry* 343.2 (2005): 293-298.
- 90. Gibb, W. R., and A. J. Lees. "The relevance of the Lewy body to the pathogenesis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 51.6 (1988): 745-752.
- 91. Damier, P., et al. "The substantia nigra of the human brain II. Patterns of loss of dopamine-containing neurons in Parkinson's disease." *Brain* 122.8 (1999): 1437-1448.
- 92. Kish, Stephen J., Kathleen Shannak, and Oleh Hornykiewicz. "Uneven pattern of dopamine loss in the striatum of patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease." *New England Journal of Medicine* 318.14 (1988): 876-880.
- 93. Remy, Philippe, et al. "Depression in Parkinson's disease: loss of dopamine and noradrenaline innervation in the limbic system." *Brain* 128.6 (2005): 1314-1322.
- 94. Baba, Minami, et al. "Aggregation of alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies of sporadic Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies." *The American journal of pathology* 152.4 (1998): 879.

- 95. Perry, Robert H., et al. "Senile dementia of Lewy body type: a clinically and neuropathologically distinct form of Lewy body dementia in the elderly." *Journal of the neurological sciences* 95.2 (1990): 119-139.
- 96. Kim, Mia, et al. "Berberine prevents nigrostriatal dopaminergic neuronal loss and suppresses hippocampal apoptosis in mice with Parkinson's disease." *International journal of molecular medicine* 33.4 (2014): 870-878.
- 97. Kwon, Ik Hyun, et al. "Effects of berberine on 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells and a rat model of Parkinson's disease." *Neuroscience letters* 486.1 (2010): 29-33.
- 98. Shin, Keon Sung, et al. "Neurotoxic effects of berberine on long-term l-DOPA administration in 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rat model of Parkinson's disease." *Archives of pharmacal research* 36.6 (2013): 759-767.
- 99. Rabey, J. M., et al. "Rasagiline mesylate, a new MAO-B inhibitor for the treatment of Parkinson's disease: a double-blind study as adjunctive therapy to levodopa." *Clinical neuropharmacology* 23.6 (2000): 324-330.
- 100. Mangoni, A., et al. "Effects of a MAO-B inhibitor in the treatment of Alzheimer disease." *European neurology* 31.2 (1991): 100-107.
- 101. Rabey, J. M., et al. "Rasagiline mesylate, a new MAO-B inhibitor for the treatment of Parkinson's disease: a double-blind study as adjunctive therapy to levodopa." *Clinical neuropharmacology* 23.6 (2000): 324-330.
- 102. Kurth, Janice H., et al. "Association of a monoamine oxidase B allele with Parkinson's disease." *Annals of neurology* 33.4 (1993): 368-372.

103. Castillo, Jimmy A., et al. "Direct led-fluorescence method for Mao-B inactivation in the treatment of Parkinson's." 5th Iberoamerican Meeting on Optics and 8th Latin American Meeting on Optics, Lasers, and Their

Applications. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2004.

- 104. Kong, Ling Dong, C. H. Cheng, and Ren Xiang Tan. "Monoamine oxidase inhibitors from rhizoma of Coptis chinensis." *Planta medica* 67.1 (2001): 74-76.
- 105. Bae, Jinbum, et al. "Berberine protects 6-hydroxydopamine-induced human dopaminergic neuronal cell death through the induction of heme oxygenase-1." *Molecules and cells* 35.2 (2013): 151-157.
- 106. Hsu, Ya-Yun, et al. "Berberine activates Nrf2 nuclear translocation and protects against oxidative damage via a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Aktdependent mechanism in NSC34 motor neuron-like cells." *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 46.5 (2012): 415-425.
- 107. Zhang, Xiaolin, et al. "Neuroprotection of early and short-time applying berberine in the acute phase of cerebral ischemia: up-regulated pAkt, pGSK and pCREB, down-regulated NF-κB expression, ameliorated BBB permeability." *Brain research* 1459 (2012): 61-70.
- 108. Hu, Jun, et al. "PI3K p55γ promoter activity enhancement is involved in the anti-apoptotic effect of berberine against cerebral ischemia–reperfusion." *European journal of pharmacology* 674.2 (2012): 132-142.
- 109. Zhou, Xi-Qiao, et al. "Neuroprotective effects of berberine on stroke models in vitro and in vivo." *Neuroscience Letters* 447.1 (2008): 31-36.

- 110. Cui, Hu-Shan, et al. "Berberine exerts neuroprotective actions against in vitro ischemia-induced neuronal cell damage in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures: involvement of B-cell lymphoma 2 phosphorylation suppression." *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 32.1 (2009): 79-85.
- 111. Lim, Jung Su, et al. "Neuroprotective effects of berberine in neurodegeneration model rats induced by ibotenic acid." *Animal Cells and Systems* 12.4 (2008): 203-209.
- 112. Zhang, Jing, et al. "Berberine and total base from rhizoma coptis chinensis attenuate brain injury in an aluminum-induced rat model of neurodegenerative disease." *Saudi medical journal* 30.6 (2009): 760-766.
- 113. Hong, Jeong-Seok, et al. "Effects of berberine on hippocampal neuronal damage and matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity following transient global cerebral ischemia." *Journal of neuroscience research* 90.2 (2012): 489-497.
- 114. Benaissa, F., et al. "Berberine reduces the hypoxic-ischemic insult in rat pup brain." *Acta Physiologica Hungarica* 96.2 (2009): 213-220.
- 115. Lee, Taehwan, Hwon Heo, and Yunhee Kim Kwon. "Effect of berberine on cell survival in the developing rat brain damaged by MK-801." *Experimental neurobiology* 19.3 (2010): 140-145.
- Bhutada, Pravinkumar, et al. "Protection of cholinergic and antioxidant system contributes to the effect of berberine ameliorating memory dysfunction in rat model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes." *Behavioural brain research* 220.1 (2011): 30-41.

- 117. Rego, A. Cristina, and Catarina R. Oliveira. "Mitochondrial dysfunction and reactive oxygen species in excitotoxicity and apoptosis: implications for the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases." *Neurochemical research* 28.10 (2003): 1563-1574.
- St-Pierre, Julie, et al. "Suppression of reactive oxygen species and neurodegeneration by the PGC-1 transcriptional coactivators." *Cell* 127.2 (2006): 397-408.
- 119. Yang, Lei, Heng-Yi He, and Xue-Jun Zhang. "Increased expression of intranuclear AChE involved in apoptosis of SK-N-SH cells." *Neuroscience research* 42.4 (2002): 261-268.
- 120. Holzgrabe, Ulrike, et al. "Targeting acetylcholinesterase to treat neurodegeneration." (2007): 161-179.
- Lu, Shou-Si, et al. "Berberine promotes glucagon-like peptide-1 (7–36) amide secretion in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats." *Journal of Endocrinology* 200.2 (2009): 159-165.
- Yu, Yunli, et al. "Modulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 release by berberine: in vivo and in vitro studies." *Biochemical pharmacology* 79.7 (2010): 1000-1006.
- Ji, Hong-Fang, and Liang Shen. "Berberine: a potential multipotent natural product to combat Alzheimer's disease." *Molecules* 16.8 (2011): 6732-6740.

- 124. Vargas, Marcelo R., et al. "Nrf2 activation in astrocytes protects against neurodegeneration in mouse models of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 28.50 (2008): 13574-13581.
- 125. de Vries, Helga E., et al. "Nrf2-induced antioxidant protection: a promising target to counteract ROS-mediated damage in neurodegenerative disease?." *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 45.10 (2008): 1375-1383.
- 126. Perry, TracyAnn, et al. "Evidence of GLP-1-mediated neuroprotection in an animal model of pyridoxine-induced peripheral sensory neuropathy." *Experimental neurology* 203.2 (2007): 293-301.
- 127. Hölscher, Christian. "The role of GLP-1 in neuronal activity and neurodegeneration." *Vitam Horm* 84.13 (2010): 331-354.
- 128. Li, Yazhou, et al. "GLP-1 receptor stimulation preserves primary cortical and dopaminergic neurons in cellular and rodent models of stroke and Parkinsonism." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106.4 (2009): 1285-1290.
- 129. Kennedy, Scott G., et al. "Akt/Protein kinase B inhibits cell death by preventing the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria." *Molecular and cellular biology* 19.8 (1999): 5800-5810.
- Brunet, Anne, Sandeep Robert Datta, and Michael E. Greenberg.
 "Transcription-dependent and-independent control of neuronal survival by the
 PI3K–Akt signaling pathway." *Current opinion in neurobiology* 11.3 (2001): 297-305.

- 131. Nakaso, Kazuhiro, Satoru Ito, and Kenji Nakashima. "Caffeine activates the PI3K/Akt pathway and prevents apoptotic cell death in a Parkinson's disease model of SH-SY5Y cells." *Neuroscience letters* 432.2 (2008): 146-150.
- 132. Mantamadiotis, Theo, et al. "Disruption of CREB function in brain leads to neurodegeneration." *Nature genetics* 31.1 (2002): 47-54.
- 133. Dragunow, Mike. "CREB and neurodegeneration." *Front Biosci* 9 (2004): 100-103.
- 134. Valenza, Marta, et al. "Dysfunction of the cholesterol biosynthetic pathway in Huntington's disease." *The Journal of neuroscience* 25.43 (2005): 9932-9939.
- 135. Bodai, László, and J. Lawrence Marsh. "A novel target for Huntington's disease: ERK at the crossroads of signaling." *Bioessays* 34.2 (2012): 142-148.
- 136. Maher, Pamela, et al. "ERK activation by the polyphenols fisetin and resveratrol provides neuroprotection in multiple models of Huntington's disease." *Human molecular genetics* (2010): ddq460.
- Mann, J. J., R. D. Kaplan, and E. D. Bird. "Elevated postmortem monoamine oxidase B activity in the caudate nucleus in Huntington's disease compared to schizophrenics and controls." *Journal of neural transmission* 65.3-4 (1986): 277-283.
- 138. Ruberg, Merle, et al. "Acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase activity in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with neurodegenerative diseases

involving cholinergic systems." *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 50.5 (1987): 538-543.

- 139. Hurlbert, Marc S., et al. "Mice transgenic for an expanded CAG repeat in the Huntington's disease gene develop diabetes." *Diabetes* **48**.3 (1999): 649-651.
- 140. Sorolla, Ma Alba, et al. "Protein oxidation in Huntington disease affects energy production and vitamin B6 metabolism." *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 49.4 (2010): 612-621.
- 141. David, Rachel. "Autophagy: TFEB perfects multitasking." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 12.7 (2011): 404-405.
- 142. Settembre, Carmine, et al. "TFEB links autophagy to lysosomal biogenesis." *science* 332.6036 (2011): 1429-1433.
- Settembre, Carmine, and Andrea Ballabio. "TFEB regulates autophagy: an integrated coordination of cellular degradation and recycling processes."
 Autophagy 7.11 (2011): 1379-1381.
- Decressac, Mickael, et al. "TFEB-mediated autophagy rescues midbrain dopamine neurons from α-synuclein toxicity." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110.19 (2013): E1817-E1826.
- 145. Gomes, Ana P., et al. "Berberine protects against high fat diet-induced dysfunction in muscle mitochondria by inducing SIRT1-dependent mitochondrial biogenesis." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease* 1822.2 (2012): 185-195.

146. Zhu, Xiaofei, et al. "Hepatoprotection of Berberine Against Hydrogen Peroxide-induced Apoptosis by Upregulation of Sirtuin 1." *Phytotherapy*

Research 27.3 (2013): 417-421.

- 147. Rahman, Shahedur, and Rezuanul Islam. "Mammalian Sirt1: insights on its biological functions." *Cell Commun Signal* 9.11 (2011): 5.
- Colak, Yasar, et al. "SIRT1 as a potential therapeutic target for treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease." *Medical Science Monitor Basic Research* 17.5 (2011): HY5-HY9.
- 149. Cantó, Carles, and Johan Auwerx. "PGC-1alpha, SIRT1 and AMPK, an energy sensing network that controls energy expenditure." *Current opinion in lipidology* 20.2 (2009): 98.
- 150. Duan, Wenzhen. "Targeting sirtuin-1 in Huntington's disease: rationale and current status." *CNS drugs* 27.5 (2013): 345-352.